
 

 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and 
 

Commissioning 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 
The Democracy Service 
 

Civic Centre 3 
 

High Street 
 

Huddersfield 
 

HD1 2TG 
 

Tel: 01484 221000  
 

Please ask for: Leigh Webb 
 

Email: leigh.webb@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

Monday 21 September 2020 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

Standards Committee 
 

The Standards Committee will meet in the Virtual Meeting - online at 10.00 
am on Tuesday 29 September 2020. 
 
The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 
 

 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 
 
Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

The Standards Committee members are:- 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Member 
Councillor Paul Davies (Chair) 
Councillor Bill Armer 
Councillor Martyn Bolt 
Councillor James Homewood 
Councillor Alison Munro 
Councillor Shabir Pandor 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal 
 



 

 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
  Pages 

 

1:   Membership of the Committee 
 
This is where Councillors who are attending as substitutes will say 
for whom they are attending. 
 

 
 

 

2:   Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 
To approve the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 11 
March 2020 
 

 
 

1 - 4 

3:   Interests 
 
The Councillors will be asked to say if there are any items on the 
Agenda in which they have disclosable pecuniary interests, which 
would prevent them from participating in any discussion of the items 
or participating in any vote upon the items, or any other interests. 
 

 
 

5 - 6 

4:   Admission of the Public 
 
Most debates take place in public. This only changes when there is a 
need to consider certain issues, for instance, commercially sensitive 
information or details concerning an individual. You will be told at 
this point whether there are any items on the Agenda which are to 
be discussed in private. 
 

 
 

 

5:   Deputation/Petitions 
 
The Committee will receive any petitions and hear any deputations 
from members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people 
can attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern. A member of the public can also hand in a petition 
at the meeting but that petition should relate to something on which 
the body has powers and responsibilities. 
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10 (2), Members of the 

 



 

 

Public should provide at least 24 hours’ notice of presenting a 
deputation.   
 

 
 

6:   Public Question Time 
 
The Committee will hear any questions from the general public. Due 
to Covid-19 restrictions, questions should be submitted via 
executive.governance@kirklees.gov.uk no later than 10am on 28 
September 2020. 
 

 
 

 

7:   Code of Conduct Complaints Update 
 
To receive a report looking at the complaints received since 11 
March 2020 
 
Contact Officer: David Stickley – Senior Legal Officer - 01484 
221000  
 

 
 

7 - 18 

8:   Cases and News Update 
 
To receive a report setting out news and cases of interest since 
March 2020. 
 
Contact Officer: David Stickley – Senior Legal Officer - 01484 
221000  
 

 
 

19 - 140 

9:   Committee on Standards In Public Life Follow Up 
 
To receive an update on the current review. 
 

 
 

141 - 
150 

 
 

mailto:executive.governance@kirklees.gov.uk


 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Leigh Webb  
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

11 March 2020 
 
Present: Councillor Paul Davies (Chair) 

Councillor Bill Armer 
 Councillor Martyn Bolt 

Councillor James Homewood 
Councillor Alison Munro 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal 

  
In attendance: Mike Stow – Independent Person  
  

 
 

1 Membership of the Committee 
Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillor Pandor. 
 

2 Minutes of Previous Meeting 
RESOLVED - That the minutes of the meeting held on the 25 November 2019 be 
approved as a correct record.  
 

3 Interests 
It was noted that Councillors Armer and Bolt were Members of either a Town or 
Parish Council. 
 

4 Admission of the Public 
It was noted that agenda items would be considered in public session. 
 

5 Deputation/Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were considered. 
 

6 Public Question Time 
No questions were asked. 
 

7 Code of Conduct - Complaints Update 
The Committee received a report which provided an update on complaints that had 
been received since the last consideration at the meeting held on 11 September 
2019. The Committee was informed that the report is prepared every six months 
and gives a breakdown of complaints received.   
 
Since the 11th of September 2019 the Monitoring Officer has received 18 complaints 
relating to alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct. This figure includes multiple 
complaints relating to 1 councillor. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Standards Committee – 11 March 2020 
 

2 
 

It was reported that 10 complaints relate to Kirklees Councillors (a total of 11 
Councillors) and 8 relate to parish councillors. The number of identified Town or 
Parish councillors complained about is 6, from 2 Town or Parish Councils. 
 
Of these: 

- 3 were not progressed after the initial assessment process 
- 1 was dealt with informally.  
- The remaining 14 are relatively recent and 9 are currently being  
investigated before being considered under the initial assessment 
process, with the remainder being part way through the formal 
standards process.  

 
The Committee was advised that since the publication of the report a one complaint 
had been closed taking the numbers being investigated from 9 to 8.  
 
During consideration of the complaints update, Members of the Committee 
discussed the issue of non-compliance with sanctions and how decisions are 
publicised. With regard to non-compliance it was suggested that these cases could 
be publicised to help prevent sanctions being ignored. Councillor Bolt highlighted his 
view that in effect non-compliance with the sanctions was contrary to the 
Declaration of Office signed by all new Members, which states they will abide by the 
Council’s Code of Conduct. On the wider issue of how outcomes are reported, the 
Monitoring Officer explained that decisions are published through the Council’s 
website and it was a matter for the press to decide on whether these are reported in 
the newspaper. The Chair gave an undertaking that the issue of how the outcomes 
of complaints are publicised would be further looked at.  
 
RESOLVED -  That the report be received and noted. 
 

9 Standards - Cases and News Update 
The Committee considered a report which provided information on developments, 
news and matters of local government ethics, including relevant case law. 
 
The report also included an update on the work of the Committee for Standards in 
Public Life, who, in a joint exercise with the Jo Cox Foundation, had undertaken a 
review of individual political parties’ Codes of Conduct. The purpose was to create a 
‘Joint Standard’ that would outline a shared understanding of the minimum 
standards of behaviour expected of all party members. 
 
Furthermore it was reported that the Local Government Association (LGA) had 
become involved in the drafting of the model Code of Conduct that the CSPL had 
recommended in their report. 
 
RESOLVED -   

1) That the report be received and noted. 
2) That the draft Model Code of Conduct be submitted to the September 

meeting of this Committee.  
3) That this Committee wishes to participate in the consultation on the draft 

model code of conduct that is being prepared by the LGA and delegates 

Page 2



Standards Committee – 11 March 2020 
 

3 
 

authority to the Monitoring Officer to draft a response in consultation with 
members of the Standards Committee and Group Business Managers. 
 

 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



K
IR

K
LE

ES
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

/C
A

B
IN

ET
/C

O
M

M
IT

TE
E 

M
EE

TI
N

G
S 

ET
C

 
D

EC
LA

R
A

TI
O

N
 O

F 
IN

TE
R

ES
TS

 
S

ta
nd

ar
ds

 C
om

m
itt

ee
 

N
am

e 
of

 C
ou

nc
ill

or
 

Ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 h
av

e 
an

 
in

te
re

st
 

 

Ty
pe

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t (

eg
 a

 
di

sc
lo

sa
bl

e 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r a

n 
“O

th
er

 
In

te
re

st
”)

 

 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 

in
te

re
st

 re
qu

ire
 y

ou
 to

 
w

ith
dr

aw
 fr

om
 th

e 
m

ee
tin

g 
w

hi
le

 th
e 

ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 
ha

ve
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 is

 u
nd

er
 

co
ns

id
er

at
io

n?
  [

Y/
N

] 

 

B
rie

f d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 y

ou
r 

in
te

re
st

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

 Si
gn

ed
:  

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

   
   

   
D

at
ed

:  
  …

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
.. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



N
O

TE
S 

D
is

cl
os

ab
le

 P
ec

un
ia

ry
 In

te
re

st
s 

If 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

s,
 th

ey
 a

re
 y

ou
r d

is
cl

os
ab

le
 p

ec
un

ia
ry

 in
te

re
st

s 
un

de
r t

he
 n

ew
 n

at
io

na
l r

ul
es

. A
ny

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 
sp

ou
se

 o
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

ny
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 y
ou

 a
re

 li
vi

ng
 a

s 
hu

sb
an

d 
or

 w
ife

, o
r a

s 
if 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
yo

ur
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
.  

 A
ny

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t, 
of

fic
e,

 tr
ad

e,
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n 
or

 v
oc

at
io

n 
ca

rr
ie

d 
on

 fo
r p

ro
fit

 o
r g

ai
n,

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, u

nd
er

ta
ke

s.
  

A
ny

 p
ay

m
en

t o
r p

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f a

ny
 o

th
er

 fi
na

nc
ia

l b
en

ef
it 

(o
th

er
 th

an
 fr

om
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y)
 m

ad
e 

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 p

er
io

d 
in

 
re

sp
ec

t o
f a

ny
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 b
y 

yo
u 

in
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t d

ut
ie

s 
as

 a
 m

em
be

r, 
or

 to
w

ar
ds

 y
ou

r e
le

ct
io

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
.  

 A
ny

 c
on

tra
ct

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
ad

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
yo

u,
 o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 (o

r a
 b

od
y 

in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
as

 
a 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t) 
an

d 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
-  

• 
un

de
r w

hi
ch

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
r w

or
ks

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ex

ec
ut

ed
; a

nd
  

• 
w

hi
ch

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
fu

lly
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

d.
  

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t i

n 
la

nd
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
av

e 
an

d 
w

hi
ch

 is
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y.
  

 A
ny

 li
ce

nc
e 

(a
lo

ne
 o

r j
oi

nt
ly

 w
ith

 o
th

er
s)

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

ol
ds

 to
 o

cc
up

y 
la

nd
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 
au

th
or

ity
 fo

r a
 m

on
th

 o
r l

on
ge

r. 
 

 A
ny

 te
na

nc
y 

w
he

re
 (t

o 
yo

ur
 k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 - 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 th

e 
te

na
nt

 is
 a

 b
od

y 
in

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r 

ci
vi

l p
ar

tn
er

, h
as

 a
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t. 
 

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

 h
as

 in
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

 b
od

y 
w

he
re

 - 
 

(a
) t

ha
t b

od
y 

(to
 y

ou
r k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 h

as
 a

 p
la

ce
 o

f b
us

in
es

s 
or

 la
nd

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 a

ut
ho

rit
y;

 a
nd

  
(b

) e
ith

er
 - 

 
 

th
e 

to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ec

ur
iti

es
 e

xc
ee

ds
 £

25
,0

00
 o

r o
ne

 h
un

dr
ed

th
 o

f t
he

 to
ta

l i
ss

ue
d 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t 

bo
dy

; o
r  

 
if 

th
e 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t b

od
y 

is
 o

f m
or

e 
th

an
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

, t
he

 to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ha

re
s 

of
 a

ny
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

 in
 

w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

as
 a

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t e

xc
ee

ds
 o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t c
la

ss
.  

 

Page 6



 
 
Name of meeting: Standards Committee  
 
Date: 29th September 2020  
 
Title of report: Code of Conduct complaints update  
 
Purpose of report 
 
To brief the standards committee on Councillor complaints under the Code of 
Conduct since the last Standards Committee meeting in March 2020. 
 
 
 
Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards?  

not applicable 
 
 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward 
Plan (key decisions and private reports?)  

no  
 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

no  
 
 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Finance IT and Transactional Services? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Legal Governance and Commissioning 
Support? 

 
YES - Rachel Spencer-Henshall 
 
Yes 
 
 
Yes 
 

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Graham Turner 
 

 
Electoral wards affected: All  
 
Ward councillors consulted: None  
 
Public or private: Public   
 
Has GDPR been considered?  Yes 
   
  

Page 7

Agenda Item 7

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report follows on from the report that was before the Standards 

Committee on the 11th of March 2020. 
 

1.2 This report will look at the number of complaints received since the 11th of 
March 2020, along with their type and nature. 

 
1.3 It will also look at which of those new complaints have been resolved and 

which are still subject to investigation or further action. It will also provide an 
update on those complaints that were received in the previous reporting 
period and were not resolved at the time of the previous report. 
 

1.4 It will also compare this period’s complaints with the previous period, to see if 
there are any significant differences or trends. 
 

1.5 Some graphical representations of the data on complaints has been prepared, 
which allows for comparisons for a longer period than the report and these are 
at the Appendix A to this report. These include data from May 2017 and will 
highlight whether any trends have become apparent since then. 

 
 

2. Information required to take a decision 
 
2.1 Complaints Summary 
 
2.1.1 Since the 11th of March 2020 the Monitoring Officer has received 60 

complaints relating to alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct. This 
figure includes multiple complaints relating to 4 councillors. 

 
2.1.2 32 relate to Kirklees Councillors (a total of 13 Councillors) and 28 relate 

to parish councillors. The number of identified Town or Parish 
councillors complained about is 3, from 3 Town or Parish Councils. 

 
2.1.3 Of these 60, 24 were not progressed after the initial assessment 

process and 1 was reported by the complainant as being resolved. A 
further complaint was dealt with as a staffing issue rather than as a 
standards issue. Of the remaining 34, 2 were resolved informally, 18 
were progressed through the formal standards process (along with 3 
carried forward from the previous reporting period) and findings were 
made. The remaining 14 complaints are relatively recent and are 
currently being investigated before being considered under the initial 
assessment process.  

 
2.1.4 There are a number of interrelated complaints involving one Town or 

Parish Council.  
 
 
2.2     Update on previous complaints 

Page 8



 
2.2.1 Of the 13 complaints recorded in the previous report as then ongoing, 

these have mostly now been concluded. 3 of these were taken through 
the formal standards process with the 18 complaints referred to in 
2.1.3. 1 complaint was dealt with as a staffing issue, rather than as a 
standards issue. 1 complaint is on hold, pending further clarification 
from the complainant.4 complaints were not taken forward. 4 were 
referred back to the Town / Parish Council for resolution by mediation.  

 
 
 
 
2.3      Previous Report and comparison with the present report 
 
2.3.1 The previous report contained a total of 18 new complaints about 11 

named Kirklees members, plus a total of 6 Town and Parish 
Councillors, covering the period from the 11th of September 2019 to the 
11th of March 2020. This compares with the current period under 
review, the 12th of March 2020 to the 29th of September 2020, where 
there is a total of 60 new complaints that related to 13 named Kirklees 
Councillors and 3 named Town or Parish Councillors. 

 
2.3.2 The nature of the complaints in the present report concern the 

behaviour of members towards members of the public (5 complaints 
relating to 6 members), whilst 30 concern the behaviour of 4 members 
in social media posts, 1 concerns behaviour towards an officer, 22 
concern behaviour at meetings, and 2 concern the behaviour of a 
member during lockdown. 

 
The sources of the complaints are that 6 were received from a Town or 
Parish Councillor, 1 was from an officer of a Town or Parish Council, 1 
was from a Kirklees Councillor, and the remaining 52 were from 
members of the public. 

 
2.3.3 Comparing this to the previous report, complaints there were about the 

behaviour of members towards members of the public (3 complaints 
relating to 3 members), whilst 9 concerned the behaviour of 5 members 
in social media posts, 1 concerned behaviour towards an officer, 1 
concerned alleged failures to comply with sanctions from a previous 
complaint, 3 concerned behaviour at meetings, and the final complaint 
concerned allegations made in the local press.  

 
Of these 18 complaints, 5 were received from 4 Town or Parish 
Councillors, 2 came from Town or Parish clerks and the remainder 
came from members of the public. 

 
2.3.4 Comparison between the two reports, shows that the overall number of 

complaints has risen from 18 to 60, whilst the number of Councillors 
complained about has fallen slightly to 16 from 17. The rise in overall 

Page 9



numbers is attributable to a high number of complaints about two 
Councillors in the current period.  

 
2.3.5           In this period, we have seen 6 instances of a ‘multiple’ complaints, with 

the same complaint being made and supported by more than one 
complainant.  

 
2.3.6 The total number of complaints relating to Town or Parish Councils has 

risen in the current period, and remains a cause for concern, 
particularly as the same Town or Parish Council member that was the 
subject of a significant number of previous complaints is again the 
subject of a large number of complaints, with a total of 24 complaints in 
this period about just this one member. 

 
 

 
3. Implications for the Council 

 
3.1 Working with People 

 
N/A 

 
3.2 Working with Partners 

 
N/A 

 
3.3 Place Based Working  
 

N/A 
 

3.4 Climate Change and Air Quality  
 
N/A 

 
 3.5 Improving Outcomes for Children 
 

N/A 
 

3.6 Other (eg Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  
 

The promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct by 
councillors is an important part of maintaining public confidence in both 
the council and its members. Failure to do so could have reputational 
implications. 

 
  
 

 
4. Consultees and their opinions 

 

Page 10



N/A 
 

5. Next steps 
 
5.1 The Monitoring Officer will continue to assess any complaints about members’ 

conduct as and when they are received and will report the outcomes to this 
committee as appropriate. 

 
 

6. Officer recommendations and reasons 
 
6.1 It is recommended that the report is noted and the Standards Committee have 

regard to the information in considering the training and support requirements 
for Councillors. 

 
 

7. Cabinet portfolio holder’s recommendations 
 
 N/A 

 
8. Contact officer  
 
 David Stickley 
 Senior Legal Officer 
 01484 221000 
 david.stickley@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

 
9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 
 
9.1 N/A 

 
10. Service Director responsible   
 
 Julie Muscroft 
 Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 01484 221000 
 julie.muscroft@kirklees.gov.uk 
 
  

Page 11

mailto:david.stickley@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:julie.muscroft@kirklees.gov.uk


Appendix A 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



 
 
 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

total complaints in Kirklees complaints town/parish council
complaints

complaints progressed total number of
members complained

of

Kirklees members
complained of

town/parish members
complained of

Complaints summary

May 2017 to Sept 2017 Sept 2017 to March 2018 March 2018 to Sept 2018 Sept 2018 to March 2019

March 2019 to Sept 2019 Sept 2019 to March 2020 March 2020 to Sept 2020

P
age 13



 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

May 2017 to Sept 2017 Sept 2017 to March 2018 March 2018 to Sept 2018 Sept 2018 to March 2019 March 2019 to Sept 2019 Sept 2019 to March 2020 March 2020 to Sept 2020

Total complaints in 

P
age 14



 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Sept 2017 to March 2018 March 2018 to Sept 2018 Sept 2018 to March 2019 March 2019 to Sept 2019 Sept 2019 to March 2020 March 2020 to Sept 2020

Sources of complaints received

from mop from cllrs from officers

P
age 15



 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

May 2017 to Sept 2017 Sept 2017 to March 2018 March 2018 to Sept 2018 Sept 2018 to March 2019 March 2019 to Sept 2019 Sept 2019 to March 2020 March 2020 to Sept 2020

Complaints - Kirklees / Town and Parish Councils

Kirklees complaints town/parish council complaints

P
age 16



 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

May 2017 to Sept 2017 Sept 2017 to March 2018 March 2018 to Sept 2018 Sept 2018 to March 2019 March 2019 to Sept 2019 Sept 2019 to March 2020 March 2020 to Sept 2020

Total complaints in trends 

P
age 17



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
Name of meeting: Standards Committee  
 
Date: 29th September 2020  
 
Title of report: Cases and News Update  
 
Purpose of report 
 
To brief the standards committee on any news and cases of interest since March 
2020. 
 
 
Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards?  

not applicable 
 
 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward 
Plan (key decisions and private reports?)  

no  
 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

no  
 
 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Finance IT and Transactional Services? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Legal Governance and Commissioning 
Support? 

Yes – Rachel Spencer-Henshall 
 
 
Yes 
 
 
Yes 
 

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Graham Turner 
 

 
Electoral wards affected: All  
 
Ward councillors consulted: None  
 
Public or private: Public 
 
Have you considered GDPR?  Yes 
 
  

Page 19

Agenda Item 8

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


 

1. Summary  
 

1.1 This report is intended to brief members on any developments and news on 
matters of local government ethics. 
 

1.2 It will look at news items and any relevant case law, as well as any recent 
published decisions from other local authorities or any of the existing 
standards boards. 
 

1.3 It will also provide an update on the work of the CSPL that follows on from 
their report ‘Ethical Standards in Local Government’. 

 
 

2. Information required to take a decision 
 
2.1 News since March 2020 
 
2.1.1 A number of sources have been checked for details of any news items 

that are of relevance or may be of interest to the committee. 
 
2.1.2 These include Local Government Lawyer, Lawyers in Local 

Government, the various standards boards’ websites, websites of other 
local authorities as well as local and national media. 

 
2.1.3 There are a number of articles, from the Local Government Lawyer 

website, which may be of interest to the committee, even if all are not 
directly relevant to the work of the committee. Copies of the articles are 
at appendix A, but the following are of particular interest. 

 
2.1.4 In July 2020 Wakefield Council had to explain to residents that there 

were no powers to remove a councillor who had been convicted of 
sexual offences involving children, but was then yet to be sentenced. 

 
2.1.5 In June 2020, Richard Harwood QC reported a case in which the High 

Court had considered the issues around lobbying. This followed the 
London Borough of Hackney advising planning committee members to 
not read correspondence sent to them concerning applications. The 
High Court found that such communications were an important part of 
the local democratic process. 

 
2.1.6 In June 2020, the LLG website published a report about NALC calling 

for there to be a power of suspension and asking the government to 
take urgent action to introduce such a power. 

 
2.1.7 In June 2020 it was reported that a community councillor in Wales had 

failed to secure an injunction to prevent the Public Service 
Ombudsman for wales investigating complaints about him. 

 
2.1.8 A search of local newspaper websites has thrown up a number of 

stories about councillor conduct, ranging from a report of one council 

Page 20



 

receiving almost 180 complaints in 6 months, to a councillor being 
removed from a virtual meeting, one council fighting back about social 
media posts and the possibility of a Standards Commission hearing 
being streamed online. Details are in appendix A. 

 
 
2.2 Recent published decisions 

 
2.2.1 Some Local Authorities in England publish their decisions on member 

complaints, as do the Standards Boards in Wales, Scotland and 
Northern Ireland. 

 
2.2.2 The Standards Commission for Scotland has continued to work, 

holding hearings remotely. 
 
2.2.3 A number of hearings have been listed for October 2020 and any 

decisions of interest will be reported to a future meeting of this 
Committee.  

 
2.2.4 Two hearings have been held since the last report to this Committee, 

one of which resulted in an elected member being censured. A copy of 
the decision notice is at Appendix B. 

 
2.2.5 The Commissioner for Standards in Northern Ireland has not published 

any further reports since July 2019. The Commissioner’s website 
advises that the office is currently closed and there is reference to a 
number of hearings that are yet to be listed. 

  
2.2.6 The Local Government Ombudsman for Wales publishes a ‘Code of 

Conduct Casebook’ periodically. There have been no ‘casebooks’ 
published so far in 2020. 

 
2.2.7 The Ombudsman did publish an annual report in May 2020 and the key 

points to note are that there was an increase in complaints but a 
decrease in the number of interventions and serious cases. 

 
2.2.8 There has been a drop in complaints about alleged breaches of the 

Code of Conduct of 18%, the report noting a decrease in what it 
describes as ‘frivolous complaints’. An extract from the annual report is 
attached at Appendix B.  

 
2.2.9 The Northern Ireland Local Government Commissioner for Standards 

reports that hearings are currently on hold, but notes that there are a 
number to be listed. 

 
2.2.10 In England, publication of decisions remains discretionary, although the 

CSPL did support publishing these, so it may be the case that more 
decisions from English local authorities are published in due course. 

 

Page 21



 

2.2.11 There is in general a lack of published cases from English local 
authorities in this period and none of interest have been found. 

 
 
 
2.3 Case Law 
 
2.3.1 There does not appear to have been any recent reported decisions in 

the Courts on any matters directly relating to local authority standards, 
other than the High Court case on lobbying reported on above. 

 
 
2.4 The work of the Committee on Standards in Public Life 
 
2.4.1 The CSPL have been fairly quiet in follow up work to their report.  
 
2.4.2 Since the last report, the CSPL have published the minutes of their 

meetings, held on the 27th of February 2020, the 19th of March 2020 
and the 23rd of April 2020. There was no direct reference to the Local 
Government Ethical Standards report in these minutes. 

 
2.4.3 This is probably a reflection of the fact that the Government is yet to 

respond to the report or to consider setting any legislative timetable to 
implement any of the recommended changes. 

 
2.4.4 Having said that, the Chair of the CSPL, Lord Evans, has written to 

Robert Jenrick, Minister for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government to enquire how soon the government are likely to respond 
to the report, referring to a letter sent to Mr Jenrick’s predecessor in 
October 2019, which remains unanswered. 

 
2.5  Update on work from the CSPL report 

 
2.5.1 The Code of Conduct review that was recommended be undertaken 

annually is taking place, on an agreed bi-annual basis. 
 
2.5.2 The consultation exercise has been delayed by the Covid-19 pandemic 

but it is hoped that this can be finalised and launched shortly. 
 
2.6 LGA Consultation on the draft Model Code of Conduct 
 
2.6.1 This closed on the 17th of August and the LGA’s response is awaited. 
 
2.6.2 Members were asked to participate and to offer their views. Key 

officers were also asked to participate. 
 
2.6.3 The outcome of the consultation was originally due to result in a 

finalised model code being launched by the LGA at their annual 
conference. However, this was delayed due to the Covid-19 pandemic 

Page 22



 

and was rescheduled for autumn 2020. It remains to be seen whether 
the LGA will hold an annual conference in the Autumn and, if not, 
whether a finalised model code will be launched independently of the 
annual conference. 

 
2.6.4 It has been reported by Local Government Lawyer that LLG (Lawyers 

in Local Government), CIPFA and SOLACE have agreed to work 
together on a joint response to the LGA draft model code.  

 
2.6.5 LLG has issued a response to the draft model code, critical of the 

sanctions adopted in the draft code. More controversially, it also made 
the case for the draft code to be mandatory. 

 
2.7 LLG Social Media Toolkit 
 
2.7.1 Lawyers in Local Government (LLG) published their social media toolkit 

on the 26th of August. A copy is at Appendix C. 
 
2.7.2 The toolkit is a comprehensive document that covers all aspects of 

issues that may arise from the use of social media. 
 
 
3. Implications for the Council 

 
3.1 Working with People 

 
N/A 

 
3.2 Working with Partners 

 
N/A 

 
3.3 Place Based Working  
 

N/A 
 

3.4 Climate Change and Air Quality 
 
N/A 
 

3.5 Climate Change 
 
In order to minimise any impact, printing is kept to a minimum. 

 
3.6 Other (eg Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  

 
The promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct by 
councillors is an important part of maintaining public confidence in both 
the council and its members. Failure to do so could have significant 
reputational implications. 

Page 23



 

 
 

 

4. Consultees and their opinions 
 
N/A 
 

5. Next steps and timelines 
 
5.1 The Monitoring Officer will continue to monitor any relevant news and cases 

and will report back to this committee. She will also continue to monitor and 
report back on the work of the CSPL. 

 
 

6. Officer recommendations and reasons 
 
6.1 Members are asked to consider the report and comment on its contents (as 

applicable) and note its contents. 
 

 
7. Cabinet portfolio holder’s recommendations 
 
 N/A 

 
8. Contact officer 
 

David Stickley 
 Senior Legal Officer 
 01484 221000 
 david.stickley@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

 
9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 
 
9.1 N/A 

 
10. Service Director responsible 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 01484 221000 
 julie.muscroft@kirklees.gov.uk 
 
  

Page 24

mailto:david.stickley@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:julie.muscroft@kirklees.gov.uk


 

Appendix A 
 

  

Page 25



 

Council says it is unable to remove convicted councillor ahead of sentencing 

July 15, 2020 

Wakefield Council has explained to local residents that it is powerless to remove a councillor 

convicted of sex offences involving children. 

Independent councillor Alex Kear is reported by the BBC to have admitted trying to entice a 

child aged under 13 to engage in sexual activity, and attempting to incite a child into 

pornography. 

He is due to be sentenced on 20 August at Leeds Crown Court. 

Gillian Marshall, the council's chief legal officer, said: "Under local authority legislation, 

Alex Kear remains a councillor. Wakefield Council is powerless to remove him at this stage. 

"Central government has essentially left local councils powerless to take action in these 

situations. We do not have any authority to remove elected members from their position, 

regardless of the severity of their alleged crimes, unless they receive a significant custodial 

sentence.  

“Therefore unless Cllr Kear chooses to resign, he remains a councillor. This will be reviewed 

when he is sentenced.” 

She said the council had taken “appropriate safeguarding measures” when it became aware of 

West Yorkshire Police’s investigation of the matter. 

  

Page 26

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-leeds-53350453


 

The right to lobby councillors: Holborn Studios 2 

June 26, 2020 

A High Court judge recently considered the right of local councillors to receive 

correspondence from the public and to consider it when making decisions. Richard 

Harwood QC analyses the outcome. 

The High Court has ruled, for the first time, whether members of the public can write to 

councillors, and whether councillors can read those letters in advance of taking decisions. 

The case concerned the practice of the London Borough of Hackney of prohibiting planning 

committee members from reading correspondence sent to them about forthcoming 

applications. 

Holborn Studios run the largest photographic studio in Europe. Redevelopment is proposed 

by their landlords, with a scheme which will not accommodate them. In 2017 planning 

permission was quashed because an unfair failure to reconsult on amendments and a failure to 

disclose application documents in breach of a legitimate expectation: R (Holborn Studios) v 

London Borough of Hackney [2017] EWHC 2823 (Admin). A new application was 

considered by Hackney’s Planning Sub-Committee in January 2019. Shortly before the 

meeting Holborn Studio’s managing director wrote to the committee members about the 

officers’ report and received this reply from the chair: 

“Planning members are advised to resist being lobbied by either applicant or objectors.” 

Holborn Studio’s solicitors, Harrison Grant, then wrote to the planning officers, copying in 

the committee members, explaining why the officer recommendation to refuse the application 

should be rejected. They also said that Hackney’s approach of not allowing committee 

members to read representations sent to them was unlawful. A councillor replied that he had 

been given legal advice that he "should forward any lobbying letters to Governance Services 

and refrain from reading them". Consequently, he said, "I have not read your email". In an 

addendum report the officers responded to the solicitors’ letter: 

“Members are warned about viewing lobbying material as this can be considered to be 

prejudicial to their consideration of the application.” 

This reflected the Council’s leaflet ‘How to have your say at the Planning Sub-Committee’, 

sent to the public in advance of the meeting "it is advised that you don’t contact any of the 

councillors before a meeting". 

The particular issue was whether the public could write to councillors about decisions they 

will be making and whether those councillors could consider those representations. The point 

was remarkably free of any judicial authority, apart from a passing comment by Dove J 

in R(Legard) v Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea that "As democratically elected 

Page 27

http://www.holbornstudios.com/
https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2017/2823.html
https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2017/2823.html
https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2018/32.html


 

representatives they are expected to receive and consider representations and lobbying from 

those interested in the issues they are determining". 

Holborn Studios relied on Article 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights and the 

common law.  Article 10 provides "Everyone has the right to freedom of expression. This 

right shall include freedom to hold opinions and to receive and impart information … subject 

to such formalities, conditions, restrictions or penalties as are prescribed by law and are 

necessary in a democratic society". In R(Lord Carlisle of Berriew v Secretary of State for the 

Home Department  Parliamentarians asked for the exclusion of a dissident Iranian politician 

from the United Kingdom to be lifted to enable her to address meetings in Parliament on 

issues associated with Iran. Lord Neuberger said at paragraph 91, discussing meetings with 

MPs and Peers: 

“These are hugely important rights. Freedom of speech, and particularly political speech, is 

the foundation of any democracy. Without it, how can the electorate know whom to elect and 

how can the parliamentarians know how to make up their minds on the difficult issues they 

have to confront? How can they decide whether or not to support the Government in the 

actions it wishes to take?” 

Baroness Hale emphasised that whilst the politician could still speak to UK Parliamentarians 

by video or audio link, or they could see her in Paris, the preventing a meeting at 

Westminster was still an interference with the Parliamentarians’ Article 10 rights. 

Holborn Studios also relied on the common law as being in step with Article 10 citing Lord 

Steyn in R v Secretary of State for the Home Department ex p Simms: 

“The starting point is the right of freedom of expression. In a democracy it is the primary 

right: without it an effective rule of law is not possible. … In Attorney-General v. Guardian 

Newspapers Ltd. (No. 2) [1990] 1 A.C. 109, 283-284, Lord Goff of Chieveley expressed the 

opinion that in the field of freedom of speech there was in principle no difference between 

English law on the subject and article 10 of the Convention.  … 

"Freedom of expression is, of course, intrinsically important: it is valued for its own sake. 

But it is well recognised that it is also instrumentally important. It serves a number of broad 

objectives. First, it promotes the self-fulfilment of individuals in society. Secondly, in the 

famous words of Holmes J. (echoing John Stuart Mill), “the best test of truth is the power of 

the thought to get itself accepted in the competition of the market:” Abrams v. United States 

(1919) 250 U.S. 616, 630, per Holmes J. (dissenting). Thirdly, freedom of speech is the 

lifeblood of democracy. The free flow of information and ideas informs political debate. It is 

a safety valve: people are more ready to accept decisions that go against them if they can in 

principle seek to influence them. It acts as a brake on the abuse of power by public officials. 

It facilitates the exposure of errors in the governance and administration of justice of the 

country …” 

Page 28

https://www.bailii.org/uk/cases/UKSC/2014/60.html
https://www.bailii.org/uk/cases/UKSC/2014/60.html


 

Dove J referred to the Local Government Association’s publication “Probity in 

Planning” which says "Lobbying is a normal part of the planning process". It 

was "indisputably correct" that "that issues in relation to freedom of expression and the 

application of Article 10 of the ECHR were engaged in the communication between members 

of a local authority, and in particular members of a planning committee, and members of the 

public who they represent and on whose behalf they were making decisions in the public 

interest" (para 78).  He held (para 78): 

“Similarly, bearing in mind the importance of the decisions which the members of the 

planning committee are making, and the fact that they are acting in the context of a 

democratically representative role, the need for the communication of views and opinions 

between councillors and the public whom they represent must be afforded significant weight. 

In my view, it would be extremely difficult to justify as proportionate the discouragement, 

prohibition or prevention of communication between public and the councillors representing 

them which was otherwise in accordance with the law. Here it was no part of the defendant’s 

case to suggest that the communication which the claimant made in their correspondence in 

respect of the committee report was anything other than lawful.” 

Mr Justice Dove concluded (para 79): 

“Receiving communications from objectors to an application for planning permission is an 

important feature of freedom of expression in connection with democratic decision-taking 

and in undertaking this aspect of local authority business. Whilst it may make perfect sense 

after the communication has been read for the member to pass it on to officers (so that for 

instance its existence can be logged in the file relating to the application, and any issues 

which need to be addressed in advice to members can be taken up in a committee report), the 

preclusion or prevention of members reading such material could not be justified as 

proportionate since it would serve no proper purpose in the decision-taking process. Any 

concern that members might receive misleading or illegitimate material will be resolved by 

the passing of that correspondence to officers, so that any such problem of that kind would be 

rectified. In my view there is an additional issue of fairness which arises if members of the 

planning committee are prevented from reading lobbying material from objectors and 

required to pass that information unread to their officers. The position that would leave 

members in would be that they would be reliant only on material from the applicant placed 

on the public record as part of the application or the information and opinions summarised 

and edited in the committee report. It is an important feature of the opportunity of an 

objector to a planning application to be able to present that objection and the points which 

they wish to make in the manner which they believe will make them most cogent and 

persuasive. Of course, it is a matter for the individual councillor in the discharge of his 

responsibilities to choose what evidence and opinion it is that he or she wishes to study in 

discharging the responsibility of determining a planning application, but the issue in the 

present case is having the access to all the material bearing upon the application in order to 

make that choice. If the choice is curtailed by an instruction not to read any lobbying 

material from members of the public that has a significant impact on the ability of a member 

of the public to make a case in relation to a proposed development making the points that 

they wish to make in the way in which they would wish to make them. 

Page 29



 

81. … The standard correspondence clearly advised against members of the public writing 

directly to members of the committee; there was no warrant for that advice or 

discouragement and it impeded the freedom of expression of a member of the public who was 

entitled to write to a member of the planning committee setting out in his or her own terms 

the points they wish to be considered in respect of an application and expect that the member 

would have the opportunity to read it.” 

The permission was not quashed on this ground since whilst committee members had thought 

they were obliged to disregard a letter from Holborn Studios’ solicitors, their points were 

made by their QC at the committee meeting. 

The judgment establishes, surprisingly for the first time, the right of local councillors to 

receive correspondence from the public and to consider it when making decisions. Part of that 

is the right of the public to write. There is also a recognition that members can and will be 

lobbied, whether in writing, in meetings, at social events or chatting in the street. Provided 

that is done openly, in particular that correspondence is copied to officers whether by the 

writer or the recipient, that is not simply legitimate, but an important part of the democratic 

process. 

The planning permission was though quashed because the council failed to make affordable 

housing viability assessments available to Holborn Studios and the public. These were 

background papers and given government policy and guidance on transparency, the public 

interest did not allow these to be exempt information. Dove J found that the viability material 

which was published to justify a reduced affordable housing contribution was ‘opaque and 

incoherent’.  

  

Page 30



 

NALC renews calls for power to suspend councillors for up to six months 

June 23, 2020 

The National Association of Local Councils (NALC) has called on the Government to take 

“urgent action” to introduce a power for local authorities to suspend councillors for up to six 

months. 

The introduction of such a power was recommended by the Committee on Standards in 

Public Life in a report in January 2019 to the Prime Minister on improving ethical standards 

in local government. 

NALC has made its call after working with the Local Government Association (LGA) on the 

development of an updated national model code of conduct for all tiers of local government. 

The LGA published the draft code earlier this month for consultation. 

On the power to suspend, NALC said: “Failure to introduce this sanction alongside other 

measures will risk wider steps being taken to improve ethical standards, such as the model 

code of conduct and training for councillors and clerks, as being ineffective. 

“Now more than ever, high standards of conduct in government at all levels are needed to 

protect the integrity of decision making, maintain public confidence and to safeguard local 

democracy. 

“That is why NALC is also calling for the Committee on Standards in Public Life to publish a 

timetable for reviewing progress on the implementation of the report’s wider 

recommendations and best practice to ensure this important issue continues to be a priority 

for action.” 

 

  

Page 31

https://www.localgovernmentlawyer.co.uk/governance/396-governance-news/39731-watchdog-calls-for-councils-to-have-power-to-suspend-councillors-for-up-to-6-months
https://www.localgovernmentlawyer.co.uk/governance/396-governance-news/39731-watchdog-calls-for-councils-to-have-power-to-suspend-councillors-for-up-to-6-months
https://www.localgovernmentlawyer.co.uk/governance/396-governance-news/43958-local-government-association-consults-on-model-member-code-of-conduct


 

Community councillor in Wales fails to secure injunction to stop Ombudsman 

investigating complaints against him 

June 12, 2020 

A High Court judge has rejected an application by a community councillor for an injunction 

against the Public Service Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) to stop its investigation of 

complaints made against him. 

Jonathan Bishop had been the subject of complaints by the former clerk, the chair and vice-

chair of the Taff's Well and Nantgarw Community Council. 

The application for an injunction was made on an urgent basis, before a claim had been 

issued. 

In Bishop v Public Service Ombudsman for Wales [2020] EWHC 1503 (Admin) His Honour 

Judge Jarman QC, sitting as a judge of the High Court, said the basis of the application was 

that the complaints should be investigated under a local resolution procedure which had been 

adopted by the council, and not by the statutory procedure under Part III of the Local 

Government Act 2000. 

Cllr Bishop asserted that the former procedure, which is an informal non statutory procedure, 

was appropriate where, as here, complaints were made against a councillor by another 

councillor rather than a member of the public. 

In his pre-action protocol letter the applicant set out three reasons why the Ombudsman did 

not have the power to investigate the complaint. These were: 

1. Issues of politeness should be dealt with under the local resolution procedure. 

2. Councillors and officers are expected to have a thick skin. 

3. Allegations made by the vice-chair about the applicant were made outside the political arena. 

A "further aspect" was then stated to be that named members of PSOW staff had acted in a 

biased manner towards him in other referrals or complaints. This included that complaints 

against him had been treated more favourably than complaints which he had made against the 

complainants. Mr Bishop expanded upon this in his oral submissions by saying that his 

complaints were not investigated but those against him were. 

The complaint by the chair of the council, Alun Fowler, was made in September 2019. The 

following month the Ombudsman wrote to Cllr Bishop to inform him that the complaint 

would be investigated. 

Page 32

https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2020/1503.html


 

That investigation is now in the process of collating evidence. By letter dated 31 March 2020 

the Ombudsman informed Cllr Bishop that the complaint against him by the vice-chair, Helen 

Edmunds, would not be investigated as a stand-alone complaint but as part of the ongoing 

investigation. 

In an email Cllr Bishop informed the Ombudsman of several medical conditions which he 

has, including autism spectrum disorder and also a high IQ with dyslexia, dyscalculia and 

dysgraphia. 

In a reply sent on 6 April 2020 an assistant investigation manager at the Ombudsman’s 

service replied, saying Cllr Bishop’s comments had been noted and would be considered 

during the course of the investigation. 

HHJ Jarman QC said Cllr Bishop’s contention that the Ombudsman should not be 

investigating the complaints against him under the statutory procedure but that the complaints 

should be dealt with in the local resolution process was at the heart of his application for an 

injunction to stop the current investigation. 

Counsel for the Ombudsman, Gwydion Hughes, submitted that such an injunction should not 

be granted for three reasons: 

1. There was no good reason or urgency to justify making the application prior to the 

commencement of a claim. 

2. There was no serious issue to be tried with a real as opposed to a fanciful prospect of 

succeeding at trial. 

3. Exceptional circumstances would have to be shown before a court prevented a statutory 

investigatory body from exercising its powers of investigation, and none were shown here. 

HHJ Jarman QC said it was appropriate to deal with the most substantive of those grounds 

first, namely the second ground that there was no serious issue to be tried. 

The judge said: “In deciding whether or not to investigate, as PSOW and OVW [One Voice 

Wales] guidance make clear, one of the matters taken into account is the seriousness of the 

complaint. 

“In my judgment Alun Fowler's complaint clearly goes far beyond matters of politeness or 

matters in respect of which he can reasonably be expected to be thick skinned. The reference 

to obscene and offensive language may come within that category, but the complaint 

continues to include allegations that the actions of the applicant have caused two clerks to 

resign and a third to consider her position, to enclose a long list of complaints against the 

applicant, that most members of the council have indicated a wish to resign if the applicant is 

not dealt with, and to enclose statements showing a pattern of unacceptable behaviour on the 

part of the applicant.” 

Page 33



 

He continued: “Each of those other aspects of the complaint is in my judgment clearly 

capable of amounting to a lack of consideration for others and/or may reasonably be regarded 

as bringing the office or authority into disrepute. Each of these is in a different category to a 

lack of politeness or a matter in respect of which other members of the council should be 

thick skinned about. 

“In my judgment the applicant does not have a real prospect of succeeding at trial in 

establishing that the complaints against him should be dealt with in the local resolution 

process rather than be investigated by the PSOW.” 

In respect of the complaint of Helen Edmunds against the applicant, the judge noted that the 

Ombudsman had informed Cllr Bishop by letter dated 31 March 2020 that it had been 

decided not to investigate this as a standalone complaint, but as part of the existing 

investigation. 

“Given that Alun Fowler'sscomplaint alleges that the applicant has shown a pattern of 

unacceptable behaviour and the most of the members of the council had threatened 

resignation if the applicant is not dealt with, in my judgment that was clearly an approach 

which PSOW was entitled to adopt,” he said. 

As for the applicant's allegation that the Ombudsman had shown bias against him in refusing 

to investigate his complaints, the judge noted that Cllr Bishop said that the reason the 

Ombudsman gave for not investigating his complaints was that he had not identified which 

part of the code he alleged was broken by Alun Fowler, but neither had the latter in his 

complaint. 

“However, it is clear from reading the decision of PSOW in respect of the applicant's 

complaint against Alun Fowler that that is not the reason given for not investigating that 

complaint.” 

The judge said the reasons were given in a letter from the Ombudsman to the applicant dated 

6 April 2020. HHJ Jarman QC went on to cite large extracts from that letter. 

He said the Ombudsman’s decision was reasoned and reasonable. “It is clear that the request 

for references to the code in future was a request for assistance for the avoidance of doubt 

rather than the basis for refusal. The reasons for refusal included lack of evidence, which the 

applicant said he would only supply if an investigation was initiated, and lack of particularity. 

This was in marked contrast to Alun Fowler's complaint, which was particularised and 

accompanied by statements.” 

The judge said another particular of bias relied upon by the applicant was that Helen 

Edmunds’ complaint that the applicant said to her that she shouldn't come to council 

meetings with a communicable infection was being investigated, but his complaint about her 

Page 34



 

that she said that applicant could not help with voluntary work as a friendly face was needed, 

was not being investigated. 

“However, as is clear from PSOW's letter concerning the former, that is not being 

investigated as a standalone complaint but as part of the ongoing investigation which includes 

an allegation of a pattern of unacceptable behaviour on the part of the applicant,” the judge 

said. 

HHJ Jarman QC continued: “Finally, in respect of bias, the applicant says that is shown by 

how PSOW conducted an interview of his support worker as part of the investigation, after 

which the support worker wrote to PSOW saying that the draft statement which had been sent 

to him did not fairly reflect what he said in the interview and was in breach of data protection 

rights arises. In my judgment this is far from justifying the allegation of bias.” 

The applicant submitted before the judge that the complaint of Helen Edmunds dealt with 

matters outside council business and therefore came within the principle in Livingstone v The 

Adjudication Panel for England [2006] EWHC 2533 (Admin). 

HHJ Jarman QC agreed with counsel for the Ombudsman that this and any other 

jurisdictional points could be raised by the applicant in the course of the investigation (see, 

for example APW/001/2018-19/CT Councillor Graham Down). 

The judge said the applicant in his oral submissions referred to his medical conditions as 

impacting upon the subject matter of the complaints against him and his ability to take part in 

the investigation. 

“As indicated above he has made these known to PSOW who has indicated that they will be 

taken into account and that reasonable adjustments will be made in the investigation. The 

applicant invited me to extend time for any judicial review claim in light of these conditions, 

but it is not appropriate to do so unless and until a claim is issued.” 

HHJ Jarman QC concluded that he was not satisfied that Cllr Bishop had shown any serious 

issue to be tried, and that was sufficient to justify refusing to grant the order sought. 

The judge said it was not necessary for him to make findings on the other points taken by 

counsel for the Ombudsman. 

  

Page 35

https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2006/2533.html


 

 

Page 36



 

 
 
 

Page 37



 

 
  

Page 38



 Page 39



 

 

  

Page 40



 

 

Page 41



 

 

 

 

  

Page 42



 

  

Page 43



 Page 44



 

 

 

  

Page 45



 Page 46



 

 

 

Page 47



 

  

Page 48



 

Appendix B 

Page 49



 Page 50



 Page 51



 Page 52



 

 

Page 53



 

 
  

Page 54



 

Extract from Annual report Ombudsman for Wales

Page 55



 

 

Page 56



 

 

Page 57



 

 

Page 58



 

 

Page 59



 

 
 
  

Page 60



 

Appendix C 
 

LLG, CIPFA and SOLACE to work together on response to LGA draft 
model code of conduct, call for monitoring officers to be legally 
qualified 

July 20, 2020 

LLG, CIPFA and SOLACE are to work together on a response to the draft model code of conduct 
that the Local Government Association (LGA) is currently consulting upon. 

In a joint statement the three organisations said they would jointly challenge the LGA and “share 
the insight of our members gained from their close working knowledge of ethical governance 
within the local authority context”.  

LLG, CIPFA and SOLACE said: “Our response to the consultation will explore and contrast the 
recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life’s Ethical Review. There is 
consensus between our organisations on the need for sanctions tailored for local government, 
including parish and town councils. 

“In addition, whilst outside the scope of the code, we will argue in support of other measures 
which we consider will promote more effective ethical governance and standards such as 
statutory protection for Monitoring Officers and the requirement that Monitoring Officers should 
hold a legal qualification.” 

The statement added: “This an unmissable opportunity to work together to cement consistency 
and high standards in governance. Between us, we are determined to raise the bar on 
acceptable conduct.” 

The LGA launched its consultation last month. It runs until 17 August. 

 

Page 61

https://www.localgovernmentlawyer.co.uk/governance/396-governance-news/43958-local-government-association-consults-on-model-member-code-of-conduct


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 
 

Council says it is unable to remove convicted 

councillor ahead of sentencing 
Wakefield Council has explained to local residents that it is powerless to remove a councillor 
convicted of sex offences involving children. 

Independent councillor Alex Kear is reported by the BBC to have admitted trying to entice a child 
aged under 13 to engage in sexual activity, and attempting to incite a child into pornography. 

He is due to be sentenced on 20 August at Leeds Crown Court. 

Gillian Marshall, the council's chief legal officer, said: "Under local authority legislation, Alex Kear 
remains a councillor. Wakefield Council is powerless to remove him at this stage. 

"Central government has essentially left local councils powerless to take action in these 
situations. We do not have any authority to remove elected members from their position, 
regardless of the severity of their alleged crimes, unless they receive a significant custodial 
sentence.  

“Therefore unless Cllr Kear chooses to resign, he remains a councillor. This will be reviewed 
when he is sentenced.” 

She said the council had taken “appropriate safeguarding measures” when it became aware of 
West Yorkshire Police’s investigation of the matter. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 63

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-leeds-53350453


The right to lobby councillors: Holborn 

Studios 2 
A High Court judge recently considered the right of local councillors to receive 
correspondence from the public and to consider it when making decisions. Richard 
Harwood QC analyses the outcome. 

The High Court has ruled, for the first time, whether members of the public can write to 
councillors, and whether councillors can read those letters in advance of taking decisions. The 
case concerned the practice of the London Borough of Hackney of prohibiting planning 
committee members from reading correspondence sent to them about forthcoming applications. 

Holborn Studios run the largest photographic studio in Europe. Redevelopment is proposed by 
their landlords, with a scheme which will not accommodate them. In 2017 planning permission 
was quashed because an unfair failure to reconsult on amendments and a failure to disclose 
application documents in breach of a legitimate expectation: R (Holborn Studios) v London 
Borough of Hackney [2017] EWHC 2823 (Admin). A new application was considered by 
Hackney’s Planning Sub-Committee in January 2019. Shortly before the meeting Holborn 
Studio’s managing director wrote to the committee members about the officers’ report and 
received this reply from the chair: 

“Planning members are advised to resist being lobbied by either applicant or objectors.” 

Holborn Studio’s solicitors, Harrison Grant, then wrote to the planning officers, copying in the 
committee members, explaining why the officer recommendation to refuse the application should 
be rejected. They also said that Hackney’s approach of not allowing committee members to read 
representations sent to them was unlawful. A councillor replied that he had been given legal 
advice that he "should forward any lobbying letters to Governance Services and refrain from 
reading them". Consequently, he said, "I have not read your email". In an addendum report the 
officers responded to the solicitors’ letter: 

“Members are warned about viewing lobbying material as this can be considered to be prejudicial 
to their consideration of the application.” 

This reflected the Council’s leaflet ‘How to have your say at the Planning Sub-Committee’, sent 
to the public in advance of the meeting "it is advised that you don’t contact any of the councillors 
before a meeting". 

The particular issue was whether the public could write to councillors about decisions they will be 
making and whether those councillors could consider those representations. The point was 
remarkably free of any judicial authority, apart from a passing comment by Dove J in R(Legard) v 
Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea [1] that "As democratically elected representatives 
they are expected to receive and consider representations and lobbying from those interested in 
the issues they are determining". 

Holborn Studios relied on Article 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights and the 
common law.  Article 10 provides "Everyone has the right to freedom of expression. This right 

Page 64

http://www.holbornstudios.com/
https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2017/2823.html
https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2017/2823.html
https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2018/32.html
https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2018/32.html


shall include freedom to hold opinions and to receive and impart information … subject to such 
formalities, conditions, restrictions or penalties as are prescribed by law and are necessary in a 
democratic society". In R(Lord Carlisle of Berriew v Secretary of State for the Home 
Department [2] Parliamentarians asked for the exclusion of a dissident Iranian politician from the 
United Kingdom to be lifted to enable her to address meetings in Parliament on issues 
associated with Iran. Lord Neuberger said at paragraph 91, discussing meetings with MPs and 
Peers: 

“These are hugely important rights. Freedom of speech, and particularly political speech, is the 
foundation of any democracy. Without it, how can the electorate know whom to elect and how 
can the parliamentarians know how to make up their minds on the difficult issues they have to 
confront? How can they decide whether or not to support the Government in the actions it wishes 
to take?” 

Baroness Hale emphasised that whilst the politician could still speak to UK Parliamentarians by 
video or audio link, or they could see her in Paris, the preventing a meeting at Westminster was 
still an interference with the Parliamentarians’ Article 10 rights. [3] 

Holborn Studios also relied on the common law as being in step with Article 10 citing Lord Steyn 
in R v Secretary of State for the Home Department ex p Simms [4]: 

“The starting point is the right of freedom of expression. In a democracy it is the primary right: 
without it an effective rule of law is not possible. … In Attorney-General v. Guardian Newspapers 
Ltd. (No. 2) [1990] 1 A.C. 109, 283-284, Lord Goff of Chieveley expressed the opinion that in the 
field of freedom of speech there was in principle no difference between English law on the 
subject and article 10 of the Convention.  … 

"Freedom of expression is, of course, intrinsically important: it is valued for its own sake. But it is 
well recognised that it is also instrumentally important. It serves a number of broad objectives. 
First, it promotes the self-fulfilment of individuals in society. Secondly, in the famous words of 
Holmes J. (echoing John Stuart Mill), “the best test of truth is the power of the thought to get itself 
accepted in the competition of the market:” Abrams v. United States (1919) 250 U.S. 616, 
630, per Holmes J. (dissenting). Thirdly, freedom of speech is the lifeblood of democracy. The 
free flow of information and ideas informs political debate. It is a safety valve: people are more 
ready to accept decisions that go against them if they can in principle seek to influence them. It 
acts as a brake on the abuse of power by public officials. It facilitates the exposure of errors in 
the governance and administration of justice of the country …” 

Dove J referred to the Local Government Association’s publication “Probity in Planning” which 
says "Lobbying is a normal part of the planning process". It was "indisputably correct" that "that 
issues in relation to freedom of expression and the application of Article 10 of the ECHR were 
engaged in the communication between members of a local authority, and in particular members 
of a planning committee, and members of the public who they represent and on whose behalf 
they were making decisions in the public interest" (para 78).  He held (para 78): 

“Similarly, bearing in mind the importance of the decisions which the members of the planning 
committee are making, and the fact that they are acting in the context of a democratically 
representative role, the need for the communication of views and opinions between councillors 
and the public whom they represent must be afforded significant weight. In my view, it would be 
extremely difficult to justify as proportionate the discouragement, prohibition or prevention of 

Page 65

https://www.bailii.org/uk/cases/UKSC/2014/60.html
https://www.bailii.org/uk/cases/UKSC/2014/60.html


communication between public and the councillors representing them which was otherwise in 
accordance with the law. Here it was no part of the defendant’s case to suggest that the 
communication which the claimant made in their correspondence in respect of the committee 
report was anything other than lawful.” 

Mr Justice Dove concluded (para 79): 

“Receiving communications from objectors to an application for planning permission is an 
important feature of freedom of expression in connection with democratic decision-taking and in 
undertaking this aspect of local authority business. Whilst it may make perfect sense after the 
communication has been read for the member to pass it on to officers (so that for instance its 
existence can be logged in the file relating to the application, and any issues which need to be 
addressed in advice to members can be taken up in a committee report), the preclusion or 
prevention of members reading such material could not be justified as proportionate since it 
would serve no proper purpose in the decision-taking process. Any concern that members might 
receive misleading or illegitimate material will be resolved by the passing of that correspondence 
to officers, so that any such problem of that kind would be rectified. In my view there is an 
additional issue of fairness which arises if members of the planning committee are prevented 
from reading lobbying material from objectors and required to pass that information unread to 
their officers. The position that would leave members in would be that they would be reliant only 
on material from the applicant placed on the public record as part of the application or the 
information and opinions summarised and edited in the committee report. It is an important 
feature of the opportunity of an objector to a planning application to be able to present that 
objection and the points which they wish to make in the manner which they believe will make 
them most cogent and persuasive. Of course, it is a matter for the individual councillor in the 
discharge of his responsibilities to choose what evidence and opinion it is that he or she wishes 
to study in discharging the responsibility of determining a planning application, but the issue in 
the present case is having the access to all the material bearing upon the application in order to 
make that choice. If the choice is curtailed by an instruction not to read any lobbying material 
from members of the public that has a significant impact on the ability of a member of the public 
to make a case in relation to a proposed development making the points that they wish to make 
in the way in which they would wish to make them. 

81. … The standard correspondence clearly advised against members of the public writing 
directly to members of the committee; there was no warrant for that advice or discouragement 
and it impeded the freedom of expression of a member of the public who was entitled to write to 
a member of the planning committee setting out in his or her own terms the points they wish to 
be considered in respect of an application and expect that the member would have the 
opportunity to read it.” 

The permission was not quashed on this ground since whilst committee members had thought 
they were obliged to disregard a letter from Holborn Studios’ solicitors, their points were made by 
their QC at the committee meeting. 

The judgment establishes, surprisingly for the first time, the right of local councillors to receive 
correspondence from the public and to consider it when making decisions. Part of that is the right 
of the public to write. There is also a recognition that members can and will be lobbied, whether 
in writing, in meetings, at social events or chatting in the street. Provided that is done openly, in 
particular that correspondence is copied to officers whether by the writer or the recipient, that is 
not simply legitimate, but an important part of the democratic process. 

Page 66



The planning permission was though quashed because the council failed to make affordable 
housing viability assessments available to Holborn Studios and the public. These were 
background papers and given government policy and guidance on transparency, the public 
interest did not allow these to be exempt information. Dove J found that the viability material 
which was published to justify a reduced affordable housing contribution was ‘opaque and 
incoherent’. This aspect of the case is considered in detail here. 

  

Page 67

https://www.localgovernmentlawyer.co.uk/planning/318-planning-features/44051-access-to-viability-assessments-holborn-studios-2


NALC renews calls for power to suspend 
councillors for up to six months 
The National Association of Local Councils (NALC) has called on the Government to take “urgent 
action” to introduce a power for local authorities to suspend councillors for up to six months. 

The introduction of such a power was recommended by the Committee on Standards in Public 
Life in a report in January 2019 to the Prime Minister on improving ethical standards in local 
government. 

NALC has made its call after working with the Local Government Association (LGA) on the 
development of an updated national model code of conduct for all tiers of local government. 

The LGA published the draft code earlier this month for consultation. 

On the power to suspend, NALC said: “Failure to introduce this sanction alongside other 
measures will risk wider steps being taken to improve ethical standards, such as the model code 
of conduct and training for councillors and clerks, as being ineffective. 

“Now more than ever, high standards of conduct in government at all levels are needed to protect 
the integrity of decision making, maintain public confidence and to safeguard local democracy. 

“That is why NALC is also calling for the Committee on Standards in Public Life to publish a 
timetable for reviewing progress on the implementation of the report’s wider recommendations 
and best practice to ensure this important issue continues to be a priority for action.” 

  

Page 68

https://www.localgovernmentlawyer.co.uk/governance/396-governance-news/39731-watchdog-calls-for-councils-to-have-power-to-suspend-councillors-for-up-to-6-months
https://www.localgovernmentlawyer.co.uk/governance/396-governance-news/39731-watchdog-calls-for-councils-to-have-power-to-suspend-councillors-for-up-to-6-months
https://www.localgovernmentlawyer.co.uk/governance/396-governance-news/43958-local-government-association-consults-on-model-member-code-of-conduct


Community councillor in Wales fails to secure 

injunction to stop Ombudsman investigating 

complaints against him 
A High Court judge has rejected an application by a community councillor for an injunction 
against the Public Service Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) to stop its investigation of complaints 
made against him. 

Jonathan Bishop had been the subject of complaints by the former clerk, the chair and vice-chair 
of the Taff's Well and Nantgarw Community Council. 

The application for an injunction was made on an urgent basis, before a claim had been issued. 

In Bishop v Public Service Ombudsman for Wales [2020] EWHC 1503 (Admin) His Honour 
Judge Jarman QC, sitting as a judge of the High Court, said the basis of the application was that 
the complaints should be investigated under a local resolution procedure which had been 
adopted by the council, and not by the statutory procedure under Part III of the Local 
Government Act 2000. 

Cllr Bishop asserted that the former procedure, which is an informal non statutory procedure, 
was appropriate where, as here, complaints were made against a councillor by another councillor 
rather than a member of the public. 

In his pre-action protocol letter the applicant set out three reasons why the Ombudsman did not 
have the power to investigate the complaint. These were: 

1. Issues of politeness should be dealt with under the local resolution procedure. 
2. Councillors and officers are expected to have a thick skin. 
3. Allegations made by the vice-chair about the applicant were made outside the political arena. 

A "further aspect" was then stated to be that named members of PSOW staff had acted in a 
biased manner towards him in other referrals or complaints. This included that complaints 
against him had been treated more favourably than complaints which he had made against the 
complainants. Mr Bishop expanded upon this in his oral submissions by saying that his 
complaints were not investigated but those against him were. 

The complaint by the chair of the council, Alun Fowler, was made in September 2019. The 
following month the Ombudsman wrote to Cllr Bishop to inform him that the complaint would be 
investigated. 

That investigation is now in the process of collating evidence. By letter dated 31 March 2020 the 
Ombudsman informed Cllr Bishop that the complaint against him by the vice-chair, Helen 
Edmunds, would not be investigated as a stand-alone complaint but as part of the ongoing 
investigation. 

Page 69

https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2020/1503.html


In an email Cllr Bishop informed the Ombudsman of several medical conditions which he has, 
including autism spectrum disorder and also a high IQ with dyslexia, dyscalculia and dysgraphia. 

In a reply sent on 6 April 2020 an assistant investigation manager at the Ombudsman’s service 
replied, saying Cllr Bishop’s comments had been noted and would be considered during the 
course of the investigation. 

HHJ Jarman QC said Cllr Bishop’s contention that the Ombudsman should not be investigating 
the complaints against him under the statutory procedure but that the complaints should be dealt 
with in the local resolution process was at the heart of his application for an injunction to stop the 
current investigation. 

Counsel for the Ombudsman, Gwydion Hughes, submitted that such an injunction should not be 
granted for three reasons: 

1. There was no good reason or urgency to justify making the application prior to the 
commencement of a claim. 

2. There was no serious issue to be tried with a real as opposed to a fanciful prospect of 
succeeding at trial. 

3. Exceptional circumstances would have to be shown before a court prevented a statutory 
investigatory body from exercising its powers of investigation, and none were shown here. 

HHJ Jarman QC said it was appropriate to deal with the most substantive of those grounds first, 
namely the second ground that there was no serious issue to be tried. 

The judge said: “In deciding whether or not to investigate, as PSOW and OVW [One Voice 
Wales] guidance make clear, one of the matters taken into account is the seriousness of the 
complaint. 

“In my judgment Alun Fowler's complaint clearly goes far beyond matters of politeness or matters 
in respect of which he can reasonably be expected to be thick skinned. The reference to obscene 
and offensive language may come within that category, but the complaint continues to include 
allegations that the actions of the applicant have caused two clerks to resign and a third to 
consider her position, to enclose a long list of complaints against the applicant, that most 
members of the council have indicated a wish to resign if the applicant is not dealt with, and to 
enclose statements showing a pattern of unacceptable behaviour on the part of the applicant.” 

He continued: “Each of those other aspects of the complaint is in my judgment clearly capable of 
amounting to a lack of consideration for others and/or may reasonably be regarded as bringing 
the office or authority into disrepute. Each of these is in a different category to a lack of 
politeness or a matter in respect of which other members of the council should be thick skinned 
about. 

“In my judgment the applicant does not have a real prospect of succeeding at trial in establishing 
that the complaints against him should be dealt with in the local resolution process rather than be 
investigated by the PSOW.” 

Page 70



In respect of the complaint of Helen Edmunds against the applicant, the judge noted that the 
Ombudsman had informed Cllr Bishop by letter dated 31 March 2020 that it had been decided 
not to investigate this as a standalone complaint, but as part of the existing investigation. 

“Given that Alun Fowler's complaint alleges that the applicant has shown a pattern of 
unacceptable behaviour and the most of the members of the council had threatened resignation 
if the applicant is not dealt with, in my judgment that was clearly an approach which PSOW was 
entitled to adopt,” he said. 

As for the applicant's allegation that the Ombudsman had shown bias against him in refusing to 
investigate his complaints, the judge noted that Cllr Bishop said that the reason the Ombudsman 
gave for not investigating his complaints was that he had not identified which part of the code he 
alleged was broken by Alun Fowler, but neither had the latter in his complaint. 

“However, it is clear from reading the decision of PSOW in respect of the applicant's complaint 
against Alun Fowler that that is not the reason given for not investigating that complaint.” 

The judge said the reasons were given in a letter from the Ombudsman to the applicant dated 6 
April 2020. HHJ Jarman QC went on to cite large extracts from that letter. 

He said the Ombudsman’s decision was reasoned and reasonable. “It is clear that the request for 
references to the code in future was a request for assistance for the avoidance of doubt rather 
than the basis for refusal. The reasons for refusal included lack of evidence, which the applicant 
said he would only supply if an investigation was initiated, and lack of particularity. This was in 
marked contrast to Alun Fowler's complaint, which was particularised and accompanied by 
statements.” 

The judge said another particular of bias relied upon by the applicant was that Helen Edmunds’ 
complaint that the applicant said to her that she shouldn't come to council meetings with a 
communicable infection was being investigated, but his complaint about her that she said that 
applicant could not help with voluntary work as a friendly face was needed, was not being 
investigated. 

“However, as is clear from PSOW's letter concerning the former, that is not being investigated as 
a standalone complaint but as part of the ongoing investigation which includes an allegation of a 
pattern of unacceptable behaviour on the part of the applicant,” the judge said. 

HHJ Jarman QC continued: “Finally, in respect of bias, the applicant says that is shown by how 
PSOW conducted an interview of his support worker as part of the investigation, after which the 
support worker wrote to PSOW saying that the draft statement which had been sent to him did 
not fairly reflect what he said in the interview and was in breach of data protection rights arises. 
In my judgment this is far from justifying the allegation of bias.” 

The applicant submitted before the judge that the complaint of Helen Edmunds dealt with matters 
outside council business and therefore came within the principle in Livingstone v The 
Adjudication Panel for England [2006] EWHC 2533 (Admin). 

Page 71

https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2006/2533.html


HHJ Jarman QC agreed with counsel for the Ombudsman that this and any other jurisdictional 
points could be raised by the applicant in the course of the investigation (see, for example 
APW/001/2018-19/CT Councillor Graham Down). 

The judge said the applicant in his oral submissions referred to his medical conditions as 
impacting upon the subject matter of the complaints against him and his ability to take part in the 
investigation. 

“As indicated above he has made these known to PSOW who has indicated that they will be 
taken into account and that reasonable adjustments will be made in the investigation. The 
applicant invited me to extend time for any judicial review claim in light of these conditions, but it 
is not appropriate to do so unless and until a claim is issued.” 

HHJ Jarman QC concluded that he was not satisfied that Cllr Bishop had shown any serious 
issue to be tried, and that was sufficient to justify refusing to grant the order sought. 

The judge said it was not necessary for him to make findings on the other points taken by 
counsel for the Ombudsman. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 72



Local press 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



 
 

Page 74



 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



 
 
 

Page 76



 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 77



 

Page 78



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 79



 

 

Page 80



 
 

 

 

Page 81



 

 

 
 
 

Page 82



 
 
 
 
 

Page 83



 

 

Page 84



 
 

Page 85



 

 

 
 

 

  

Page 86



Appendix B 
 
Standards Commission for Scotland 
 
Have continued to work, dealing with cases by online hearings. 
 
8 July 2020 HIGHLAND COUNCILLOR CENSURED FOR FAILING TO DECLARE AN INTEREST  
 
A Highland Councillor, Alan Henderson, was censured by the Standards Commission at a 
Hearing held online on 8 July 2020 for failing to declare his interest in HITRANS (the local 
regional transport partnership), as required by the Councillors’ Code of Conduct, at a 
meeting of Highland Council’s Environment, Development and Infrastructure Committee on 
16 May 2019.  
 
The Hearing Panel accepted, however, that Councillor Henderson’s failure to comply with 
the Code was inadvertent and an oversight. It noted that he had apologised unreservedly.  
 
The Panel heard that it was not in dispute that Councillor Henderson moved, and voted on, 
a motion to approve £170,000 worth of additional funds for work relating to Skye Airport / 
Aerodrome; and for him, as Committee Chair, to write to the Transport Secretary on behalf 
of the Council and also on behalf of HITRANS, requesting support. The Panel noted that 
HITRANS was a member of a working group established for the purpose of developing Skye 
Aerodrome into an airport and that Councillor Henderson had been Chair of HITRANS since 
June 2017. While the Panel accepted that Councillor Henderson’s role as Chair was 
unremunerated, was widely known, and that the funding approved by the committee would 
not benefit HITRANS, it nevertheless noted that he should have declared an interest under 
the terms of the Councillors’ Code.  
 
A specific exclusion in the Code for members of regional transport partnerships would have 
allowed Councillor Henderson to take part in this discussion and decision-making, if he had 
declared this interest.  
 
The Panel concluded, therefore, that Councillor Henderson’s conduct did not warrant a 
more severe sanction than censure.  
 
This was because there was no evidence that he had attempted to conceal his interest or 
that there was any personal gain. Furthermore, if Councillor Henderson had declared the 
interest as required, the specific exclusion in the Code which applied would still have 
allowed him to take part in the discussion and decisionmaking.  
 
Ms Ashleigh Dunn, Standards Commission Member and Chair of the Hearing Panel, said: 
“The requirement for councillors to declare certain interests is a fundamental requirement 
of the Code. A failure to do so can remove the opportunity for openness and transparency 
in a councillor’s role and can deny members of the public the opportunity to consider 
whether a councillor’s interests may or may not influence their discussion and 
decisionmaking.” “In this case, however, the Panel had no reason to consider the failure to 
declare the interest was anything other than an inadvertent breach of the Code. It noted 

Page 87



that Councillor Henderson had made no attempt to hide his interest and had apologised to 
all concerned, including the complainant, for his failure to declare it.”  
 
All councillors have a personal responsibility to adhere to the provisions outlined in the 
Councillors’ Code of Conduct, which is based on nine key principles, including, integrity, 
honesty and respect.  
 
 
 
 
  

Page 88



Local Government Ombudsman for Wales 
 
Extract from annual report 
 

 
 

Page 89



 
 

Page 90



 

Page 91



 
 

Page 92



 
 

Page 93



 
 
 
 

Page 94



 

1 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

LLG Social Media-Toolkit 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The LLG Social Media Toolkit has been prepared by Lawyers in Local 

Government (LLG) for the benefit of its membership, in order to introduce the 

subject of social media use and resulting legal considerations which may 

apply. 

This Photo is licensed under CC BY-SA 

 

Page 95

http://blogs.lse.ac.uk/lsesadl/2013/12/31/social-media-or-megaphone/
https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/3.0/


 

2 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

Foreword 

Unfortunately, most Councils can now lay claim to having at least one “pressure group” 

or “blogger” who see it as their life’s calling and personal duty to make persistent and 

unfounded allegations of corruption, maladministration, and misconduct (and any 

other allegations involving unlawful or illegal activities) against their local (or 

sometimes not local) Council, its elected members and officers. They have always 

been there in one form or another, however the internet and in particular social media 

have given them a significantly more elevated and wider platform from which to 

emerge from the shadows (albeit virtually), and from which to launch their attacks, 

whereas in the days of yore their reach was limited to writing letters and posting 

newsletters among other more traditional forms of communicating their views and 

theories. 

 

Some of the more unsavoury instances have seen elected members or prospective 

candidates threatened with social media exposés should they continue to hold office 

or stand for election, whether or not there is any credibility or truth to what is proposed 

to be published. This has resulted in some of those subject to such threats retiring or 

withdrawing from public life, some before they have even had chance to launch their 

political careers. Such behaviour also discourages individuals from putting themselves 

forward for public office in the first place. 

 

It is of course correct that those who do put themselves forward for public office, and 

who currently hold public office, should be subject to increased scrutiny and challenge, 

and that they should expect to be faced with sometimes very strong criticism. 

Enhanced protection therefore applies to what is said in a political arena, not only to 

politicians, but also to those who comment upon politics and politicians, notably the 

press. This is because the right protects, more broadly, the public interest in a  

 

Page 96



 

3 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

democracy of open discussion of matters of public concern, but this does not denote 

‘open season’ and there is a bar (albeit one set relatively high) beyond which such 

challenge and criticism are unacceptable, particularly where the basis of that challenge 

is devoid of factual substance. 

The consequence of these very public threats is to distort the democratic process. 

Arguably they act as an independent and unofficial pre-selection filter on candidates 

and a screen upon the longevity of political careers, leaving those standing for or 

holding office either affiliated with or supported by those making the threats, or of a 

particularly strong character. This cannot be right, and presently unless a public figure 

is in league with those making threats, a particularly thick skin is seemingly an 

essential part of the make-up of the modern Councillor. This is not to mention the effect 

that social media can have upon the wellbeing of officers and the retention of key 

members of staff.  

The LLG Social Media Toolkit is designed to help you navigate your way around the 

complex and sometimes all too emotive issue of social media in advising your officers 

and members on the best way to protect and conduct themselves as well as ensuring 

your authority complies with its legal obligations.  

 

Best wishes 

 

David Kitson 

Bevan Brittan 

 

 

 

 

Page 97



 

4 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

Chapters          Page 

 

 Introduction            5 

1. Defamation               6 

2. Indemnities            8 

3. Standards          11 

4. Abusive Posts & Declining Ethical Standards     12 

5. Breach of Confidentiality        16 

6. Data Protection         18 

7. Employment Considerations        21 

8. Social Media Management       27 

9. Problem Individuals & Practical Action                33 

10. Guidance for Members        35 

11. Do’s and Don’ts         42 

12. Social Media Suggested Guidelines for Inclusion    44 

13. Useful Links          46 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 98



 

5 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

Introduction 

LLG recognise that the growing use of social media places additional pressure on 

our members to advise officers, councillors, and their authority on a range of legal 

implications based on wide-ranging posts, tweets and commentary published in the 

public domain.  

Whilst the world under lockdown becomes increasingly virtual, social media has 

become centre stage in both personal and private lives leading to often complex and 

wide-ranging legal advice.  How do we best manage social media from a governance 

and operational perspective? How do we work out what presents risk and how can 

that risk be mitigated?  

There are all too many examples of social media causing embarrassment or loss of 

reputation. However, there is also a darker side to social media which has increased 

over recent years. Malicious abuse, threats of violence and harassment are 

unfortunately, all too prevalent across virtual platforms. The Committee on Standards 

in Public Life’s review on ‘Intimidation in Public Life” (2017) stated “The vitality of our 

political culture depends upon free and vigorous expression of opinion, and it is 

crucial that this freedom is preserved. The increasing prevalence of intimidation of 

Parliamentary candidates, and others in public life, should concern everyone who 

cares about our democracy. This is not about defending elites from justified criticism 

or preventing the public from scrutinising those who represent them: it is about 

defending the fundamental structures of political freedom”. This is a position that 

LLG takes seriously, and one that we should all agree with. 

LLG hopes this toolkit will assist you in providing advice to your officers and 

members in this complex field.  

Best Wishes  

Quentin Baker 

LLG President 2020-2021 

Page 99



 

6 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

1. Defamation 

What is defamation? 

1.1 Defamation is a complex legal area necessitating specialist legal advice. It is 

often a lengthy and costly pursuit of action and should be considered carefully.  

 

1.2 The Defamation Act 2013 came into force on 1st January 2014. It codified and 

consolidated large parts of case law and previous statute. It introduced a single 

publication rule, addressed the ‘serious harm’ threshold and reversed mode of 

trial to a judge (as opposed to jury).  

 

1.3 Simply put, if someone has posted a false statement which could cause serious 

harm to an individual’s or organisation’s reputation and character this could give 

rise to a claim for defamation. Defamation law both protects from damage to 

reputation and character and compensates for the loss and damage arising.  

 

1.4 There are a number of defences to defamation, including truth, honest opinion, 

fair comment, publication on matter of public interest, absolute privilege, and 

innocent dissemination. The defences each set out specific criteria in order to 

meet the test for reliance upon any one of them.  

 

Can a local authority bring an action?  

1.5 It is important to note that local authorities cannot themselves sue in 

defamation, which was a principle laid down by Derbyshire County Council v 

Times Newspapers Limited ([1993] 1 All ER 101). In that case the court held 

that local authorities are distinguished from corporations as democratically 

elected government bodies and as such, it was highly important that they  

Page 100



 

7 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

were open to criticism. The threat of defamation would therefore inhibit 

freedom of speech and be contrary to the public interest.  

 

General Power of Competence 

1.6 Whilst there has been some suggestion that local authorities can use section 

1 of the Localism Act 2011 (the general power of competence) to bring a 

defamation claim this is untested. It is worthwhile noting that this point was 

specifically discussed in parliamentary debates on what was then the 

Defamation Bill. It was highlighted within the debate that the Bill was not 

intended to undermine the Derbyshire principle. Given this fact it would be 

very risky to rely upon the Localism Act to bring a defamation claim. In the 

alternative, it is open to individual officers and members to bring an action in 

their own name. However, due to cost and complexity it is often not an option 

open to many. It might be possible for local authorities to provide an indemnity 

in exceptional circumstances, (see Thompson v James [2013] EWHC 515 

(QB), but extreme caution must be exercised (see section on Indemnities).  

 

Can officers and members bring an action?  

1.7 Officers (or members) of a local authority can sue for defamation in 

connection with statements made about them which relate to the exercise or 

discharge of their duties or as an employee of the authority and where it 

personally relates to them (McLaughlin v Lambeth LBC [2010] EWHC 2726 

(QB)).  

 

1.8 In Thompson v James [2013] EWHC 515, the judge acknowledged that there 

would be “a serious gap in the law if members and officers of a local authority 

(and others who work in or for other public authorities) could not sue for libel”  

Page 101



 

8 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

 and “if those who work in or for public authorities could not defend themselves 

against the dissemination of falsehoods, the public would be the losers”.  

 

1.9 However, the judge noted that civil servants acting in their official capacity 

must show a greater degree of tolerance to public scrutiny and criticism. This 

is not a surprise, and it reconfirms the conclusion reached by the House of 

Lords in the Derbyshire case some 20 years ago. But the judge also 

recognised that where a person maliciously spreads false and defamatory 

allegations about individuals holding public offices, a libel action may be the 

best means of establishing the truth and preventing repetition. 

 

1.10 Where an officer or member raises defamation, it is important that they record 

all the relevant posts and consider whether the person in question will publicly 

apologise and retract the comment in the first instance. Defamation 

proceedings are costly and lengthy. In some cases, ignoring the communication 

may stop any further communication. However, if a member or officer feels the 

nature of the post is such that it cannot be ignored, lawyers may, after providing 

initial advice, seek specialist external legal advice about the options available 

and merits of any claim.  

 

2. Indemnities 

General 

2.1 An authority can provide an indemnity for a claim brought by an individual 

officer or member, or to assist in defending a claim under The Local  

 

 

Page 102



 

9 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

Authorities (Indemnities for Members and Officers) Order 2004 (“the 2004 

Order”) where the public expenditure is justified. Under the 2004 Order, an 

indemnity can be granted to cover “any act or omission by a councillor or 

officer which is authorised by the council, or forms part of, or arises from any 

powers conferred or duties placed, as a consequence of a function being 

exercised by the member or officer at the request of, or with the approval of, 

or for the purposes of the council”.  

 

2.2 An authority cannot provide an indemnity for a defamation claim brought by a 

councillor but can fund a defence.  

 

2.3 For both councillors and officers, the 2004 Order restricts the provision of 

indemnities so that they cannot cover any finding of criminal liability or liability 

arising from fraud, deliberate wrongdoing, recklessness, or the cost of 

pursuing a defamation claim. In such cases, if an indemnity had been 

provided, any costs incurred under an indemnity would have to be repaid to 

the Council or insurer. 

 

2.4 Section 111(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 provides ancillary powers to 

local authorities that may permit them to indemnify members and officers in 

relation to particular decisions or acts, if to do so would facilitate or is 

incidental, or conducive, to the discharge of a function of the authority. 

 

2.5 Authorities should be careful when providing indemnities that no 

officer/councillor is involved in the decision-making process to do so, whilst 

having a disqualifying personal and pecuniary interest in the matter. 

 

Page 103



 

10 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

Defamation and indemnities  

2.6 Indemnities for defamation claims other than in relation to the defence of a 

member or officer of any allegation of defamation made against them are 

expressly excluded under Article 6 of the Local Authorities (Indemnities for 

Members and Officers) Order 2004. However, prior to the 2004 Order it 

had been established under the 2003 case of Comninos, R (on the 

application of) and Bedford Borough Council that local authorities could 

provide indemnities to Officers in order to bring defamation proceedings 

under s111 or s112 of the Local Government Act 1972. It is not settled law 

however whether the 2004 Order was meant to be a comprehensive code, 

but it might be possible to use the powers in exceptional circumstances 

(but not without substantial risk). 

 

2.7 In Thompson v James [2013] EWHC 515 (QB), Mrs Thompson (who was 

a prolific blogger) brought a defamation claim against the Chief Executive 

Officer (CEO) of Carmarthenshire County Council who counter-claimed for 

defamation in return. The council agreed to indemnify the CEO following 

two senior QC’s opinions and on the basis that there were exceptional 

circumstances under section 111 Local Government Act 1972. During the 

hearing, the court did not consider this particular point, but the Welsh Audit 

office took the view that the expenditure had been unlawful and issued a 

report in the public interest. They did not however subsequently follow up 

with legal challenge.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 104



 

11 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

2.8 It is important to remember that any decision to indemnify must be 

Wednesbury reasonable, legitimate, proportionate, and a proper use of public 

resources. 

 

3. Standards  

3.1 An increase in complaints about members’ use of social media has been 

acknowledged by the Committee on Standards in Public Life to be a catalyst 

behind declining standards in conduct. One of the key issues is the capacity in 

which posts are being made by councillors. There is no clear definition and 

much depends on the facts in each case. Even where members do not 

disclose that they are councillors, it can still be perceived that they are posting 

in that capacity. It is important therefore that councillors state in what capacity 

they are posting or tweeting/retweeting. It does not prevent issues arising, but 

it should help to provide clarity.  

 

3.2 The case of R (on the application of Mullaney) v Adjudication Panel for 

England [2009] EWHC 72 (Admin) acknowledged the sensitive nature of the 

exercise of whether or not a member was acting in their capacity as a 

member; “…These are ordinary descriptive English words. Their application is 

inevitably fact sensitive and so whether or not a person is so acting inevitably 

calls for informed judgment by reference to the facts of a given case. This also 

means that there is the potential for two decision makers, both taking the 

correct approach, to reach different decisions…” 

 

Local Initiatives and Pre-determination  

3.3 There has been a significant increase in the use of social media by 

Members during lockdown due to COVID-19. Many members are supporting  

Page 105



 

12 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

and re-posting local initiatives such as the production of protective equipment 

and financial assistance to those in need. But it is important that as much 

clarity is given as possible as to the capacity in which the member is posting 

these types of content. Reference to initiatives whilst using title ‘Cllr’ may infer 

to the reader that those initiatives are council initiatives or are officially 

supported. If there are then consequential issues arising with those initiatives 

(for example breaches concerning the processing of personal data), there 

might be an assumption that the council is liable or responsible.  

 

3.4 Once a post is made it is a permanent record, and social media posts on 

views and voting intentions can be perceived as predetermination and result 

in allegations of bias increasing the risk of legal challenge and judicial review 

claims.  

  

4. Abusive Posts & Declining Ethical Standards  

Ethical Standards  

4.1 It is becoming increasingly common for standards complaints to be made on 

the basis of comments Councillors have made on social media. As section 

27(1) of the Localism Act 2011 places a positive duty on Councils to promote 

and maintain high standards of conduct amongst members, Councils must seek 

to do so where their members use social media. If a Council can reduce the 

incidence of complaints being made regarding the use of social media by 

Councillors, this not only saves resources but also goes towards the section 

27(1) duty. 

 

4.2 The issue of social media and the declining standards of behaviour both 

towards public figures and by elected members has been commented upon by  

Page 106



 

13 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

the Committee on Standards in Public Life (CSPL). The CSPL report 

‘Intimidation in Public Life – A Review by the Committee on Standards in Public 

Life’ which was published in December 2017 is well worth a read. In the 

covering letter to the Prime Minister Lord Bew stated the following: 

 

“…The increasing prevalence of intimidation of Parliamentary 

candidates, and others in public life, should concern everyone who cares 

about our democracy. This is not about defending elites from justified 

criticism or preventing the public from scrutinising those who represent 

them: it is about defending the fundamental structures of political 

freedom. A significant proportion of candidates at the 2017 general 

election experienced harassment, abuse, and intimidation. There has 

been persistent, vile, and shocking abuse, threatened violence including 

sexual violence, and damage to property. It is clear that much of this 

behaviour is targeted at certain groups. The widespread use of social 

media platforms is the most significant factor driving the behaviour we 

are seeing…” 

 

4.3 In the foreword to the Government’s response to the report, the Prime Minister 

stated: 

“…the ideal of a truly plural and open public sphere where everyone can 

take part is in danger.  A tone of bitterness and aggression has entered 

into our public debate.  Participants in local and national public life – from 

candidates and elected representatives to campaigners, journalists, and 

commentators – have to contend with regular and sustained abuse.  

Often this takes the form of overt intimidation…” 

 

 

Page 107



 

14 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

4.4 In January 2019, the CSPL published their report ‘Local Government Ethical 

Standards – A Review by the Committee on Standards in Public Life’. The 

report acknowledges that ethical standards are in decline and that changes are 

required to the standards regime to address this. The report also highlights the 

frequency of attacks against and the harassment of Councillors, quoting a 

highly topical paragraph from the written evidence submitted by the Local 

Government Association at page 35 as follows: 

“Instances of councillors being attacked and harassed, notably on social 

media, is an increasing trend and a very serious issue. There is 

anecdotal evidence from across the country that female leaders and 

councillors are subject to more abuse than their male counterparts.” 

 

Harassment 

4.5 The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 covers both civil actions and criminal 

offences. There is a requirement to prove that there was a course of conduct 

(i.e. at least two instances) which was directed at a single person, or in the case 

of conduct against two or more persons, on at least one occasion in relation to 

each of those persons. The course of conduct must involve harassment. 

Harassment includes alarming the person or causing the person distress.  

 

4.6 Unlike with defamation claims by officers or members, a council can indemnify 

officers and members to bring an action under the Act. The council can also 

start an action in its own name (section 1(1A) and 3A of the Protection from 

Harassment Act 1997) where there is harassment of two or more of its 

members or officers which the perpetrator knows or ought to know involves 

harassment of those persons; or by which they intend to persuade any person 

to do something which they are not obliged to do or not to do something which 

they are entitled or required to do.  

Page 108



 

15 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

4.7 Bringing a civil claim from harassment is often less expensive than a claim in 

defamation, not least because of the possibility at interim stage of an interim 

injunction.  

 

4.8 The ongoing publication of defamatory allegations online can constitute a 

course of conduct (see Cheshire West and Chester Council & Others v Robert 

Pickthall [2015] EWHC 2141 (QB) and Coulson v Wilby [2014] EWHC 3404). 

  

4.9 The conduct complained of must be considered to “cross the boundary from 

the regrettable to the unacceptable,….. and be sufficiently serious to be 

regarded as criminal” (see Conn v Sunderland City Council [2007] EWCA Civ 

1492). Given the Court of Appeal judgement, there is now an expectation that 

the conduct must be such as to attract the sanction of the criminal law. The 

higher threshold makes a claim quite difficult. It is important to remember that 

where action is sought by or in relation to members in particular, it will be 

difficult, and only in exceptional circumstances successful.  

 

Other forms of Action  

4.10 Other forms of action might be applicable and include the common law claim 

for malicious falsehood, criminal offences under the Communications Act 

2003 and the Malicious Communications Act 1988, and anti-social behaviour 

injunctions under the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

 

4.11   Crown Prosecution Service guidance in relation to both the Communications 

Act 2003 and the Malicious Communications Act 1988 makes it clear that a 

prosecution should only proceed where it involves offensive, shocking, and 

disturbing communications.   

Page 109



 

16 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

4.12 Injunctions under the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act would be 

quite novel in the context of social media postings about members and/or 

officer, but technically speaking it might be possible. It also has the benefit of 

being dealt with on the civil balance of probabilities and there is presently no 

case law to suggest that the conduct must be such as to attract the sanction 

of the criminal law as there is with injunctions under the Protection from 

Harassment Act 1997 (see above). Use of this legislation in this context is 

untested and so how a court might deal with such a case is unknown at 

present.   

 

4.13 If officers or members receive an abusive, intimidatory or threatening 

communication they should keep a record of it and report it to the social media 

platform concerned. They should also make the council aware so that the 

council can keep a record and provide any appropriate advice. 

 

4.14 Any posts which threaten the personal safety or security of a member or officer 

should be discussed with the police. 

 

4.15 Engaging with an abusive communication can often encourage further, 

unwanted communications and may provide a platform and audience which 

further incites the behaviour. 

 

5. Breach of Confidentiality  

5.1 Breaches of duties of confidentiality (whether implied or express) can happen 

in all contexts, by members and officers or by third parties. An exempt report, 

confidential contracts with sensitive commercial information, confidential 

details about regulatory functions or investigations, or information about  

Page 110



 

17 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

complaints or individuals who have made complaints might be disclosed. This 

can result in claims being brought against the council or against individuals to 

recover any loss or damage suffered. 

 

Loss of general indemnity 

5.2 A general indemnity applies to officers and members under section 265 Public 

Health Act 1875, which is applied to all council functions by section 39 Local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. The indemnity only applies 

when members or officers are acting bona fide in the council’s interests. A 

breach of confidentiality is unlikely to be considered to be in the interests of 

the council, meaning that the member or officer involved might end up being 

individually liable for what could be quite large sums of money. Breaches of 

confidentiality are also likely to significantly undermine a council’s ability to 

obtain best value in future due to reputational damage. In the context of 

contracts, third parties might not engage, hold back on sharing information 

with the council, or use the situation to their advantage to seek more stringent 

contractual terms to the detriment of the council. Breaches might also impact 

upon and/or effect regulatory functions in that those who are subject to 

regulation, or have information about breaches, might be reluctant to engage 

for fear of that information being disclosed.  

 

5.3 There is a public interest defence to a breach of confidentiality, however it is 

for the person who has caused the breach to make this out.   

 

 

 

Page 111



 

18 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

6. Data Protection and the Information Commissioners Office 

(ICO) 

6.1 Disclosure of personal data on social media is a “processing” activity and 

requires a lawful basis if no exemptions to that processing apply.  

 

6.2 Where neither a lawful basis or an exemption apply to that processing it may 

be unlawful and constitute a breach of GDPR.  

 

Who is the controller? 

6.3 Most social media postings by individuals are considered by the ICO to be 

made in a personal capacity and therefore exempt from the GDPR. However, 

when members post personal data on social media they could be doing so in 

one of four different capacities. The first of these is where the member is 

posting purely in their personal capacity.  The ICO have however expressed a 

view that when processing personal data not in their own personal capacity, 

members could be acting in one of three further capacities: - 

a. Processing in relation to council business (where the council is the 

controller). 

b. Processing in relation to constituency work (where the councillor is the 

controller); and  

c. Processing in relation to party political matters (where the political party is 

the controller).  

 

6.4 Although elected representatives are exempt from paying a data protection 

fee under the Data Protection (Charges and Information) Regulations 2018, 

they must still ensure that they adhere to the principles of the GDPR and 

understand best practice for managing information. Where members seek to 

Page 112



 

19 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

process the personal data for matters other than exercising members’ 

functions then the fee exemption will not apply to that processing. 

 

Personal or Household Activities Exemption 

6.5 The ICO considers most social media postings made by individuals are 

exempt under the personal or household activities exemption.. It should be 

noted however that in Sergejs Buivids (Case C–345/17) the Court of Justice 

European Union (CJEU) recently gave an interesting view on the application 

of this exemption regarding the posting of a video on YouTube by an 

individual, having been asked to do so by a Latvian Court (ECLI:EU:C: 

2019:122). This was a case concerning the pre GDPR data protection 

directive however the exemption under the GDPR is very much the same. 

 

6.6 In that case, an individual had been taken to a police station to give a 

statement, and whilst there he filmed police officers going about their normal 

day to day business. He subsequently posted the footage on YouTube stating 

that he had done so to draw attention to the police acting unlawfully. When 

the individual was told to take the clip down by the Latvian National Data 

Protection Agency, he challenged them, claiming that the personal or 

household activity exemption or the journalism exemption applied (being one 

of the “special purposes” exemptions). The CJEU said that the personal or 

household purposes exemption did not apply as the material was published 

on “a video website on which users could send and share videos without 

restricting access to that video, thereby permitting access to an indefinite 

number of people”. The processing of personal data here, did not come within 

the personal or household activities. The CJEU also stated that the journalism 

exemption could apply but did not give a definitive view on this. 

 

Page 113

http://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf?docid=210766&pageIndex=0&doclang=EN


 

20 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

6.7 Although this raises interesting points, the case was very nuanced, and it 

remains to be seen whether this view will be more widely adopted.  

 

 

Journalism Exemption 

6.8 As referred to above, the GDPR and the Data Protection Act 2018 contain an 

exemption applicable to processing for the “special purposes”. One of those 

special purposes is processing for the purpose of journalism, which could 

apply to the processing of personal data by ‘citizen journalists’ on their social 

media pages, blogs and websites. The exemption (when applicable) acts to  

 

exempt the controller from the vast majority of obligations under the GDPR 

(but not the security and accountability principles). The exemption only 

applies where the controller considers that compliance with the GDPR 

provisions would be incompatible with the special purposes (this must be 

more than inconvenience); that the processing is being carried out with a view 

to publication of journalistic material; and that the publication is in the public 

interest, taking into account the special importance of the general public 

interest in freedom of expression, any specific public interest in the subject 

matter, and the potential to harm individuals. When deciding whether 

publication would be in the public interest, the controller must have regard to 

BBC Editorial Guidance lines, the OFCOM Broadcasting Guide, and the 

Editors’ Code of Practice.. 

 

6.9 If those making derogatory posts on social media cannot rely on the personal 

or household activities exemption or the journalism exemption, they will be 

considered to be controllers under the GDPR meaning that there may be 

means of redress under the GDPR (such as the right to object). Complaints 

could also be made to the ICO, as well as potential proceedings being  

Page 114



 

21 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

brought under the GDPR and Article 8 for material and non-material damage 

against the controller for any breach. 

 

7. Employment Considerations 

7.1 Employee misconduct involving use of social media is becoming an 

increasing problem and one that can be difficult for employers to deal with 

properly. Firstly, characterisation of misconduct may be problematic e.g. does 

the misconduct consist of damaging the employer’s reputation or does it 

breach a duty of confidentiality? 

 

7.2 Reported cases tend to fall within the following three categories – 

inappropriate employee actions (for example an employee posted pictures of 

themselves DJing in Ibiza whilst “off sick”); using social media to make 

derogatory comments about colleagues, the employer, 

customers/clients/patients; or excessive use of social media during work 

hours. Different considerations will also apply to dealing with conduct which is 

in work or on the other hand outside work. 

 

7.3 There is an implied term in all employment contracts that the working 

environment will be reasonable, tolerable, and congenial. The case of Moores 

v Bude-Stratton Town Council UKEAT/313/99; [2000] IRLR 676 also makes it 

clear that councils can also be held responsible for conduct of members 

towards officer. This case involved a councillor’s persistent hostility and abuse 

against an officer. The council tried to claim that as the councillor was not 

employed by the authority, it was not responsible. However, the tribunal found 

that those circumstances did not absolve the authority from its obligations and 

employees could in fact resign and claim unfair dismissal. The council was 

therefore vicariously liable for the breach and damages flowed from that.  

Page 115



 

22 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

7.4 It is important to remember that where someone is subjected to a course of 

conduct that causes them distress or alarm this may give rise to cause of  

 

action for harassment.. Online activities such as cyber bullying are also 

caught. 

 

7.5 If any harassment is on the grounds of a protected characteristic (e.g. sex, 

race, disability, age etc.) then this might form the basis of a discrimination 

claim against the employer in the Employment Tribunal. A concern here is that 

discriminatory damages are not capped and can also include injury to  

 

feelings. The amount of damages could therefore be very high depending on 

the conduct.  

 

Health and Safety 

7.6 The Health and Safety etc. Act 1974 places a general legal duty on employers 

to ensure (so far as is reasonably practicable) the health, safety and welfare 

at work of all their employees. This includes protection from bullying and 

harassment, and other things that can affect psychological wellbeing. 

Councils should have safeguards and effective monitoring in place in order to 

protect against risks and effectively deal with abuse as the duty may be 

breached by exposure to the risk without the need for actual injury or ill health.  

 

Reputational Risk 

7.7 Employee conduct may damage the council’s reputation even if it takes place 

outside of work, particularly so in the case of social media (which is where it 

Page 116



 

23 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

often happens). Cases determined in the Employment Tribunal (ET) suggest 

that the following factors are relevant when considering employees’ use of 

social media: - 

 

a. Is it sufficiently work related? Depending on the facts there has to be some 

link between work and activity.  

b. Employers should not take a disproportionate view merely because the 

material is not putting them in the best light when it comes into the public 

arena.  

c. Information given to employees about the council’s image and reputation 

as well as guidance on the use of social media are particularly relevant.  

 

General Indemnity 

7.8 As set out in paragraph 5.2 above, a general indemnity applies to officers 

under section 265 Public Health Act 1875, which is applied to all council 

functions by section 39 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 

1976. The indemnity only applies when officers are acting bona fide in the 

council’s interests. A failure to act bona fide in the Council’s interests can 

result in the indemnity being lost, meaning that Officers may therefore be 

personally liable for claims and damages, including claims by the Council 

against the Officer. 

 

Human Rights  

7.9 The Human Rights Act 1998 is potentially applicable to employment cases 

resulting from the alleged misuse of social media. Human rights will not be 

affected by Brexit. 

The three relevant rights in this context are: - 

a. Right to respect for private and family life (Article 8)  

Page 117



 

24 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

b. Freedom of thought conscious and religion (Article 9) 

c. Freedom of expression (Article 10) 

 

7.10 It is important to note that these are qualified rather than absolute rights and 

should therefore be approached in two stages. First, has the human rights 

article been engaged? Second, if there is an infringement, is that justified? 

When considering justification, proportionality must be considered which 

requires balancing an employees’ rights against the employers’ legitimate 

interests in protecting its reputation and other employees.  

 

Case Law Examples 

7.11 The case of Crisp v Apple Retail (UK) Ltd [2011] ET/1500258/11 concerned 

an employee of Apple posting expletives and derogatory comments on 

Facebook about Apple software and working at Apple in general. The Tribunal 

found that Mr Crisp had no reasonable expectation of privacy even though 

Facebook was restricted to friends, as it was noted that Mr Crisp’s comments 

could be forwarded without control and indeed it was a friend who had 

forwarded it to Apple.  

 

7.12 The Tribunal found that the right to freedom of expression had been engaged, 

but the infringement of that right had been justified. Apple had the right to 

protect its reputation and had taken definite steps to do so in its training, with 

clear policies that stated the protection of its image was of core value and that 

social media comments on Apple products was likely to be seen as gross 

misconduct.  

 

7.13 The case demonstrates that the way in which you address social media use in 

policies is important in being able to handle misconduct through social media 

by staff.  

Page 118



 

25 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

 

7.14 The case of Teggart v TeleTech UK Limited 00704/11 concerned a customer 

service representative in a call centre who posted obscene comments about 

the alleged promiscuity of a female colleague within which he also mentioned 

his employer, TeleTech. On becoming aware of the posts the female 

colleague asked Mr Teggart’s girlfriend to ask him to remove the posts, 

however instead he chose to post more derogatory and abusive comments 

and was subsequently dismissed for gross misconduct for bringing TeleTech 

into disrepute and for harassing a fellow employee.  

 

7.15 Mr Teggart claimed unfair dismissal and breach of Articles 8, 9, and 10. The 

Tribunal found that his privacy was not engaged as he had abandoned this by 

putting his comments on Facebook. Further that freedom of thought and belief 

did not extend to a belief about colleague’s promiscuity, and that freedom of 

expression, although a right, must be exercised responsibly so as not to 

damage a colleague and her reputation. The Tribunal found that the dismissal 

was fair but was critical of the finding by the employer of serious disrepute as 

there was no evidence of that. They had made the assumption but could not 

prove it actually had in reality.  

 

7.16 The case of Game Retail Ltd v Laws UKEAT/0188/14/DA concerned a risk 

and loss prevention investigator who had a personal twitter account and was 

followed by 65 stores in the business. Game Retail identified 25 expletive 

tweets by Mr Laws who had taken offence to dentists, golfers, police, his dad, 

and disabled people and summarily dismissed Mr Laws. The EAT found that 

the dismissal was fair. The tweets were not private, and he knew that he was 

being followed by the 65 stores. The tweets could be seen by staff and 

potential customers. There was more than just a theoretical risk of  

Page 119



 

26 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

reputational damage due to the number of tweets, the level of offensiveness 

of the comments, and due to being followed by the 65 stores. 

 

7.17 In the case of Walters v Asda Stores Ltd an ASDA manager posted a 

comment on her Facebook page which stated "even though I'm supposed to 

love our customers hitting them in the back of the head with a pick axe [sic] 

would make me feel far more happier heheh". She denied posting the 

comments and argued that her account had been hacked. The Tribunal found 

that the subsequent dismissal was unfair because the misconduct did not 

amount to gross misconduct and the employer’s internet policy did not 

specifically state that this type of conduct by managers would be viewed more 

seriously. Further, the employee had an exemplary disciplinary record over 10 

years’ service with no previous warnings. 

 

7.18 This can be contrasted with the case of Dixon v GB Eye Ltd, ET (Case. 

2803642/10), in which Ms Dixon who had raised a grievance about changes 

to her role following her return from maternity leave, was subsequently 

suspended pending investigation for accessing her manager’s email account., 

During suspension she posted offensive comments about her employer and 

colleagues on Facebook. She was dismissed and the Tribunal found that the 

dismissal was fair on the basis that she had breached a clear employer IT 

policy and the severity of the comments alone would have been sufficiently 

serious to dismiss.  

 

7.19 Of key importance is having clear policies in place on the use of social media 

in all aspects of Council business and operations, as well as regular training for 

both Councillors and officers to consolidate understanding. It is better to be 

proactive in dealing with potential issues, as doing so on a reactive basis will  

Page 120



 

27 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

often be too late to avoid serious breaches of legislation and duties of 

confidence with potential for significant damage to reputation. 

 

8. Social Media Management  

8.1 When analysing the majority of case law in this area, the strength or 

otherwise of an employer’s policies are exceptionally important and do 

correlate to the outcome in any given employment tribunal case.   

 

8.2 Policies need to set limits or set appropriately defined acceptable usage of 

council resources, intellectual property use and third-party data together with 

setting out expectations in respect of confidentiality, prohibitions on bullying, 

harassment and discrimination, and on negative comments about the council, 

its employees, elected members, service users, business contacts or partner 

organisations.  

 

Page 121



 

28 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

8.3 Whilst a disciplinary policy should state clearly the sanctions for misconduct 

and set expectations around maintaining the reputation of the council and 

not bringing it into disrepute; there will inevitably be the need to assess 

misconduct on a case by case basis and an acceptance that harm to the 

council’s reputation might not always be sufficiently evidenced to rely upon.  

 

8.4  Communications should be utilised to remind employees at every 

opportunity about the correct use of social media including at induction, 

within policies, through continuous training and even log on messages.  

 

8.5 Where it can be demonstrated that an employee has been told that use of 

council resources are restricted to work matters and that social media 

content which is malicious, discriminatory, bullying or otherwise goes against 

the ethos of the council and/or harms its reputation this will help protect the 

council in disciplinary matters  from a defence that the employee ‘did not 

know’ or ‘was not told’. Failure to evidence these matters will provide the 

employee with a stronger defence in any external proceedings.  

 

Monitoring of employees 

8.6     Monitoring of employees can take the form of routine IT monitoring or even 

targeted monitoring during the course of an investigation. Emails, even if 

deleted, are retained on a hard drive and may be retrievable using specialist 

software. Indeed, many cloud-based systems back up such data.  

 

8.7 Monitoring online activity can be useful because it could relate to performance 

issues but can also mitigate against reputational damage and legal liabilities.  

  

Page 122



 

29 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

  

Regulation 

8.8 Monitoring is tightly regulated through a wide range of legislation. In terms of 

monitoring involving the processing of personal data, this is of course 

regulated under the GDPR and the Data Protection Act 2018. The Information 

Commissioners Office (ICO) has produced the Employment Practices Code 

which was issued under the Data Protection Act 1998 and intended to assist 

employers to “comply with the Data Protection Act and to encourage them to 

adopt good practice. The code aims to strike a balance between the legitimate 

expectations of workers that personal information about them will be handled 

properly and the legitimate interests of employers in deciding how best, within 

the law, to run their own businesses”. Whilst the Code is yet to be reviewed in 

light of the GDPR and the Data Protection Act 2018, it is understood to remain 

indicative of the ICO’s approach to be taken and in particular Part 3 of the 

Code contains guidance on monitoring at work and covers systematic 

monitoring which is understood to mean where an employer monitors all 

workers or particular groups of workers as a matter of routine; and occasional 

monitoring which is understood to mean where an employer introduces 

monitoring as a short term measure in response to a particular problem or 

need.  

 

8.9 The Code recommends that employers set out the circumstances in which 

monitoring can be used, the nature of it, how the information obtained will be 

used, and the safeguards in place for those employees subject to monitoring. 

Employees should be left with a clear understanding of when information 

about them is likely to be obtained, why the information is being obtained, how 

it will be used, and who if anyone will the information be disclosed to. The 

Council’s IT policy needs to ensure it is GDPR compliant as this is a useful 

tool in controlling abuse.  

 

Page 123

https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1064/the_employment_practices_code.pdf


 

30 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

8.10    There are specific pieces of legislation that deal with monitoring including the 

Investigatory Powers Act 2016, which makes it unlawful in certain 

circumstances to intercept a communication in the course of transmission. It is 

also important to consider the Human Rights Act 1998 (in particular Article 8 

in that private life might be infringed) and employee protection rights including 

the duty of mutual trust and confidence.  

 

8.11 Monitoring must be proportionate with less intrusive methods considered at 

first instance. Employees should be provided with details about the purpose of  

 

monitoring including when and how it will be carried out, and employers may 

need to undertake an impact assessment, balancing the rights and privacy 

needs of the employee against the legitimate aim and needs of the employer.  

 

8.12 It is good practice to reserve the right to monitor and review communications 

within existing policy which should reference both Council communication 

systems and social media. This should explain what the Council considers to 

be a legitimate business purpose whilst also incorporating the standards 

expected.  

 

Policy Content 

8.13    A social media policy should look to include the following: - 

• Coverage (the types of media and categories of people) 

• Who is responsible for implementing the policy 

• Interrelationship with other policies (e.g. IT, Disciplinary, Data 

Protection etc.) 

Page 124



 

31 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

• Prohibited use 

• Business use parameters 

• Guidelines for responsible use 

• Monitoring  

• Consequence of breach and sanctions  

 

8.14 Proactively defining what is and what is not acceptable within a social media 

policy minimises the risk of challenge. This can include not just discrimination 

and bullying but other more specific examples such as impersonating 

colleagues.  

 

8.15 The policy should be clear about applying outside of office hours and 

regardless of whether council equipment or own devices are utilised. 

Disciplinary action relating to misconduct outside of office hours can be 

justified if the misconduct presents a real risk of damage to the reputation of 

the Council and or concerns a breach of confidentiality or amounts to 

defamation, harassment, discrimination or bullying.  

 

8.16 Be clear about whether the Council accepts the personal use of social media 

within work time. Tolerable limits should be explicit to avoid confusion or any 

suggestion that an employee was not clear as to the restrictions.  

 

8.17 Ensure the policy covers not just employees but consultants, contractors and 

councillors.  

 

 

 

Page 125



 

32 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

Guidelines 

8.18 Ensure staff are clear on their personal social media profile that they are 

speaking on their own behalf, write in the first person and use a personal 

email address, not a work address.  

 

8.19 Where there is a possiblity of identifying the individual as a council employee 

a disclaimer can be used to ensure the reader understands that the views 

expressed do not represent those of the council, (unless of course the 

employee has explicit authority to speak on its behalf). Employees should also 

be given the contact details of a named person at the Council they can report 

any misconduct to, should they see it on social media.  

 

 Key Messages to Employees 

8.20 Posts can go viral quickly resulting in a loss of control.  Employees should be 

reminded that posts on social media are often permanent in nature.  

 

8.21 Off the cuff or unguarded remarks should be avoided. Even the most well-

intentioned posts without due consideration can have unintended 

consequences.  

 

8.22 Employees should be reminded to maintain personal/professional boundaries 

and should try to imagine that they are speaking face to face to an audience, 

as well as understanding that there is no automatic expectation of privacy.  

 

  

Page 126



 

33 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

9. Problem Individuals and Practical Action  

9.1 There is no easy remedy to the issue of problem individuals and their use of 

social media to attack and criticise councils, members and officers, and to 

make allegations of corruption. As discussed, there is a much higher 

threshold of tolerance expected of those in public life. Successful action is not 

commonplace. It is costly and risks increasing or compounding the issue 

(particularly if such action is not successful), and in some cases these 

individuals will see such action as vindication that their allegations are correct, 

or even hold themselves out as a martyr. This is not to say that legal action 

should not be taken in cases where such action is demonstratively necessary, 

reasonable and proportionate. Legal options available in those cases are 

discussed in Chapter 4 above.  

 

9.2 Sometimes, the individuals behind such posts do not realise the impact their 

behaviour has had on the employees and/or members concerned. Reporting 

the matter to the police who may visit the perpetrator can have an immediate 

and lasting effect on their behaviour.  

 

9.3 There are however practical measures which can be taken to reduce the 

impact. These include measures such as blocking users, removing content (if 

able to do so but remembering to take a screen shot for evidence), and 

reporting content to the social media platform itself. It is important to complain 

to the particular social media platform and keep a record in order to build 

evidence that steps have been taken should legal action become necessary.  

 

 

 

Page 127



 

34 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

9.4 Whilst unpleasant content if acknowledged or addressed might reach a further 

audience and perpetuate the content, where the issue is already known 

about, a press statement on the council’s own platform can help to redress 

misinformation. This can include a statement that any malicious allegations 

are without merit and could impact on council functions and the public purse. 

What course of action may be appropriate very much depends upon the 

nature of the behaviour and the context within which it sits.  

 

9.5 The council’s unreasonable complaints policy should include behaviour on 

social media and set out the measures that might be taken to address 

inappropriate behaviour. This might include restricting access to members 

and/or officers, blocking emails, banning access to council land, or initiating a 

single point of contact. It is important to be overt about what action may be 

taken and in what circumstances, as well as making sure that any measure 

applied is demonstratively proportionate and necessary to mitigate against 

potential challenges brought. Any measures applied should be reviewed 

intermittently and lifted when appropriate.   

 

9.6 It is worth noting that section 14 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 

provides that public authorities do not have to comply with vexatious or 

repeated requests. The ICO have produced guidance on Dealing with 

Vexatious Requests which is comprehensive and expects authorities to 

consider whether the request has a genuine purpose in light of the objective 

public interest test. Regulation 12(4)(b) of the EIR contains a similar exception 

allowing public authorities to refuse to comply with a request for 

environmental information where the request is manifestly unreasonable. 

 

 

Page 128

https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1198/dealing-with-vexatious-requests.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1198/dealing-with-vexatious-requests.pdf


 

35 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

10.  Guidance for Members  

10.1 Social Media can be an effective tool to promote political views and 

activities/projects with which members are engaged. It can also however 

present a minefield of delicate situations which can, if not managed correctly, 

place members at risk of abuse or at risk of breaching the code of conduct.  

 

10.2 The best way to ensure that members protect both themselves and the 

council’s interests is to encourage them to treat posting on social media in 

exactly the same way as they would a public speech or an article for 

publication either professionally or in their personal capacity. The relatively 

permanent nature of a social media post means that it can follow an individual 

around their entire lifetime and even when deleted, another person may have 

captured a screen shot which could be reposted.  

 

 

10.3 Remembering to adhere to the code of conduct when using social media and 

ensuring the accuracy of content will go a long way to reaping the benefits of 

on-line engagement without facing potential repercussions.  

 

Setting the Scene 

10.4 The following are examples of social media use by members which have 

given rise to complaints and/or reputational damage.  

 

10.5 In January 2020, a councillor retweeted an article which said that Countdown 

star Rachel Riley was a "fascist" and an "Israeli state terrorist sympathiser". 

An investigation commissioned by the council found that the councillor’s  

Page 129



 

36 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

Twitter account biography listed them as a councillor but that they were acting 

in a personal capacity at the time and therefore had not breached the 

council’s code of conduct. The findings were accepted by the council’s 

standards committee, but it said councillors should be given more training on 

social media use. 

 

10.6 In April 2020, a councillor who was taking part in a day of fasting during 

Ramadan, shared a photograph of bacon and boiled eggs and tagged the 

Muslim Council of Britain with the caption: ‘Up early to start my fast for 

#LibDemIftar! Really not sure I’ll get through to the evening, but we’ll see!’ 

Following complaints, the councillor said that “This is a learning experience, 

and I’d prefer to be honest about it than not. Sorry if it caused offence”. He 

also explained “it was 4am and I was half asleep.” 

 

10.7 In April 2020, a councillor shared a picture of Greta Thunberg on Facebook in 

response to her statement that “my generation will start a revolution” and 

added the caption: “Your generation can’t work 40 hours in a week, can’t 

decide whether you’re a boy, or a girl or ‘other’ or can’t eat meat without 

crying”. A number of complaints were made about his post, in particular that it 

was transphobic. The councillor later apologised however the Scottish 

Conservatives received calls for the councillor to resign from the party or be 

suspended, with constituents threatening to file complaints with the 

Commissioner for Ethical Standards in Public Life (who investigate complaints 

about councillors in Scotland).  

 

10.8 In May 2020, a councillor faced calls to resign after sharing a tweet headed 

“Things I trust more than Boris” which set out a list including: an injection from 

Dr Harold Shipman; a taxi ride from John Worboys, and the Covid-19 virus.  

Page 130



 

37 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

The councillor retweeted that they ‘trusted criminals and the covid virus more 

than the prime minister’ on their personal twitter account. The councillor did 

delete the retweet following criticism from the local MP who said it was 

repulsive and shocking. In response, the councillor said that they had learnt 

their lesson and would be more careful in the future adding that their poor 

eyesight had caused them to retweet without looking at it.  

 

Legal Areas 

10.9 The following is a list of legal areas which should be taken into account when 

using social media: - 

 

a. Defamation: if you publish an untrue statement about a person that is 

damaging to their reputation you may be liable to pay damages. 

b. Copyright: publishing information that is not yours, without permission, 

may also result in an award of damages against you. 

c. Harassment: it is an offence to pursue a course of conduct against a 

person that is likely to cause alarm, harassment, or distress.  

d. Data protection: do not publish personal data of other people, including 

photographs, without their express permission to do so. 

e. Incitement: it is an offence to incite any criminal act.  

f. Discrimination and ‘protected characteristics’: it can be unlawful to 

discriminate against anyone based on protected characteristics (as 

defined in the Equality Act 2010). 

g. Malicious and obscene communications: it is an offence to send malicious 

or obscene communications. 

h. Judicial review of decisions on the basis of bias and/or predetermination. 

 

 

Page 131



 

38 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

Professional or Personal Capacity? 

10.10 Section 27(2) of the Localism Act states that the Code of Conduct applies when 

members are acting in their official capacity. This can present significant grey 

areas in the context of social media, where the line between acting in an official 

or in a private capacity can be a difficult one to draw. Often Councillors will state 

that they were posting in a private capacity, whereas complainants will state the 

opposite. 

 

10.11 Councillors should be mindful that the public may view them as acting as a 

councillor whatever their intention at the time. Utilising a council mobile phone 

or technology for the purposes of electioneering and political campaigns is not 

allowed. Indeed, Councillors should only access their personal social media 

accounts through personally held technology and not that provided by the 

council, with appropriate restrictions enabled to ensure that posts are not 

publicly accessible to all. Any reference to an individual holding office as a 

councillor on a social media site runs the risk that any content added by that 

individual is attributable to them as an elected member.  

 

10.12 When using social media councillors are able to share strong views on matters 

of political interest. In Heesom v Public Services Ombudsman for Wales [2014] 

EWHC 1504 (Admin) Mr Justice Hickinbottom stated at paragraph 38 that 

“Article 10 protects not only the substance of what is said, but also the form in 

which it is conveyed. Therefore, in the political context, a degree of the 

immoderate, offensive, shocking, disturbing, exaggerated, provocative, 

polemical, colourful, emotive, non-rational and aggressive, that would not be 

acceptable outside that context, is tolerated...”. 

 

 

Page 132



 

39 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

Bias and pre-determination  

10.13 Members sitting in particular on regulatory committees such as planning or 

licensing should be aware that they are allowed to have a view, but not go so 

far as to have predetermined their position on a matter. Any views aired on 

social media could be used as evidence of making a decision in advance of 

hearing all relevant information. The Council’s decision is then open to 

challenge and could be invalidated, and the ‘disrepute’ provisions of the Code 

of Conduct could be engaged.  

 

Property and Data Protection  

10.14 It is important at all times to respect confidentiality, financial, legal and 

personal information. Policy that has yet to be announced should not be 

disclosed.  

 

10.15 Personal information about other councillors should not be disclosed. An 

informal tone of voice is often desirable within agreed boundaries, but 

remember that when using official accounts, members are the voice of the 

council. 

 

The Employment Context  

10.16 It should be remembered that officers within the council are employees of the 

council. Members have responsibilities toward them in relation to ensuring and 

maintaining the mutual relationship of trust and confidence owed to them.  

 

10.17 In the Heesom Case (which was an appeal by a Welsh Councillor against 

findings that he had been in breach of the Code of Conduct in his behaviour  

Page 133



 

40 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

towards officers), Mr Justice Hickinbottom (referring to the case of Janowski v 

Poland (1999) 29 EHRR 705) stated the following at paragraph 42 of the 

judgment: 

“…Civil servants are, of course, open to criticism, including public 

criticism; but they are involved in assisting with and implementing 

policies, not (like politicians) making them. As well as in their own private 

interests in terms of honour, dignity and reputation, it is in the public 

interest that they are not subject to unwarranted comments that 

disenable them from performing their public duties and undermine public 

confidence in the administration. Therefore, in the public interest, it is a 

legitimate aim of the State to protect public servants from unwarranted 

comments that have, or may have, that adverse effect on good 

administration…” 

 

10.18 Where Councillors themselves make allegations against officers via social 

media (or otherwise), it can impact upon the mutual duty of trust and confidence 

between the officer and the Council.  Indeed, at paragraph 82 of the Heesom 

case Mr Justice Hickinbottom stated: 

“In Moores v Bude-Stratton Town Council [2001] ICR 271, a council 

employee resigned because of abuse and allegations of dishonesty at 

the hands of a backbench member of the council for whom he worked. 

The councillor was censured by the council at its next meeting, and the 

employee asked to reconsider; but he refused and pursued a claim for 

unfair dismissal. It was argued on his behalf that there was a duty on 

every local councillor arising out of his or her position as councillor not 

to do anything calculated and likely to destroy or damage the relationship 

of confidence and trust between the council and the council's employees 

(page 277D-E) …the majority accepted that argument, and held that  

Page 134

https://www.bailii.org/uk/cases/UKEAT/2000/313_99_2703.html


 

41 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

councillors were under a duty of trust and confidence for breach of which 

the council would be liable…” 

 

10.19 Councillors also need to be alive to inappropriate comments and content posted 

by third parties in response to their own posts. Whether by failing to respond at 

all or by actively engaging with third parties without addressing the offending 

content, this could be seen to undermine trust and confidence and at worst, be 

taken to condone such activity. 

 

10.20 Finally, section 2(1) of the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 states that: 

“It shall be the duty of every employer to ensure, so far as is reasonably 

practicable, the health, safety and welfare at work of all his employees”  

 

10.21 Councillors should therefore be very careful when referring to officers on social 

media, raising concerns or complaints through the appropriate council policies 

and procedures only.  

 

Note 

It should be noted that at the time of writing this, the LGA are currently consulting on 

a new model member code of conduct which includes a presumption that councillors 

are acting in an official capacity. This does require legislative change which the LGA 

acknowledges and which may or may not happen within the foreseeable future.  

The CSPL recommended that “Councillors should be presumed to be acting in an 

official capacity in their public conduct, including statements on publicly-accessible 

social media. Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 should be amended to permit 

local authorities to presume so when deciding upon code of conduct breaches”.  

 

Page 135



 

42 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

The LGA draft code states “The Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting 

[or claiming or giving the impression that you are acting] in [public or in] your 

capacity as a member or representative of your council,…” and “These obligations 

must be observed in all situations where you act [or claim or give the impression that 

you are acting] as a councillor [or in public], including representing your council on 

official business and when using social media” 

The draft code also states “Note – items in square brackets [x] refer to 

recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life and may be 

part of a future Government consultation. This includes possible future sanctions and 

appeals processes”  

 

11. Do’s and Don’ts 

DO: - 

 

11.1 Have in place policies for both officer use and use by elected members in their 

capacity as a Member of the Council – back this up with a policy on 

unreasonable complaint behaviour. 

 

11.2 Provide regular training to elected members and to officers, particularly those    

who are given access to social media accounts on behalf of the Council. 

 

11.3 Restrict the number of officers authorised to use the Council’s social media 

accounts (normally comms officers or dept heads). 

 

11.4 Require officers and elected members to sign up to the Council’s policies on 

social media use. 

Page 136



 

43 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

11.5 Consider hosting elected members blogs through modern.gov therefore 

allowing a degree of control but be careful in relation to the code of publicity 

and particularly purdah (Council resources must not be used for party political 

purposes). 

 

11.6 Remember that FOIA/EIR and DPA Subject Access requests might be made 

via social media. 

 

11.7 Actively respond to people who engage with you – this shows that the Council 

is listening and responsive. It also allows Councils to be involved in and address 

issues at an early stage. 

 

11.8 Deal with inappropriate content quickly where possible. 

 

11.9 Be mindful of the Council’s duties towards employees and others. 

 

11.10 Use social media during crisis situations – this provides an immediate interface 

with persons affected and allows quick dissemination of advice and critical 

information. Include its use in emergency plans. 

 

11.11 Use it to live broadcast meetings therefore increasing transparency, 

engagement and understanding. 

 

11.12 Use it for consultation purposes. 

 

Page 137



 

44 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

11.13 Ensure staff report back regularly on usage and activity in order to assess 

strategy and any issues. 

 

DON’T 

11.14 Ban or shy away from the use of social media. 

 

11.15 Assume that social media will look after itself. 

 

11.16 Forget that anything you post is permanent and available to the world at large. 

 

11.17 Forget that it is a two-way tool. 

 

11.18 Get drawn into arguments and debates on social media – where individuals are 

expressing dissatisfaction direct them to the right place to make their 

complaints. 

 

12. Social Media Suggested Guidelines for Inclusion  

12.1 Be clear as to the objective of your engagement: e.g. consultation, 

influencing, communication.  

 

Potential Guidelines 

I. Principles of integrity, professionalism, privacy, and impartiality should be 

observed when posting. 

Page 138



 

45 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

II. Posting items to social media is publication for the purposes of the laws of 

defamation and intellectual property.  

 

III. Proper copyright and reference laws should be observed when posting on-

line. 

 

IV. When posting on your own social media accounts and referencing your 

authority be clear about the capacity in which you are posting, for example 

clearly stipulating that your views are personal and purely your own, and 

complying with the code of conduct and council’s policies on social media 

together with the law. 

 

V. Discriminatory content is prohibited and may be unlawful and criminal. 

 

VI. You must be mindful of the political sensitivities within which individuals 

operate in their day jobs. 

 

VII. You must not disclose any information which is sensitive or confidential in 

nature including financial, operational, and legal information as well as 

personal information pertaining to employees, clients, service users or 

third parties. 

 

VIII. You should be mindful of giving rise to a perception of bias or 

predetermination where you are the decision maker or are advising the 

decision maker.  

 

IX. You should show respect for other’s opinions. 

 

X. You should uphold the code of conduct and any values policy.   

 

 

Page 139



 

46 

LLG Social Media Toolkit V1 August 2020  Copywrite LLG ©  Back to Top 

 

 

XI. You should contact the Communications Team (and/or your line manager 

if relevant) immediately if you make a mistake or spot something you are 

concerned about. 

 

13. Useful Links: - 

LGA ‘Handling Abuse on Social Media’ 

LGA ‘Councillors and Social Media’ 

LGA ‘Councillors Guide to Handling Intimidation’ 

The Welsh Local Government Association ‘Social Media and Online Abuse’ 

CSPL ‘Local Government Ethical Standards Review’ 

CSPL ‘Intimidation in Public Life Review’ 

LGA ‘A Basic Guide to Social Media’ 

  

 

Acknowledgements: - 

LLG would like to thank David Kitson, Sarah Lamont and Wesley O’Brien from 

Bevan Brittan, and Durham County Council. 

 

Legal Notice: -The LLG Social Media Toolkit has been produced by LLG for the benefit of its membership only. It may not be 

copied, transmitted or otherwise distributed to anyone who is not a member of LLG without prior express written consent.  

Page 140

https://www.local.gov.uk/handling-abuse-social-media
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillors-and-social-media
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillors-guide-handling-intimidation
https://www.wlga.wales/social-media-and-online-abuse
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/777315/6.4896_CO_CSPL_Command_Paper_on_Local_Government_Standards_v4_WEB.PDF
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/intimidation-in-public-life-a-review-by-the-committee-on-standards-in-public-life
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/communications-support/digital-councils/social-media/get-started/our-support/guidance-and-resources/communications-support/digital-councils/social-media/get-4


 

 
 
Name of meeting: Standards Committee  
 
Date: 29th September 2020  
 
Title of report: Committee on Standards in Public Life Follow up 
 
Purpose of report 
 
To brief the standards committee on the current review being undertaken by the 
Committee on Standards in Public Life (CSPL). 
 
 
Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards?  

Not applicable 
 
 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward 
Plan (key decisions and private reports?)  

no  
 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

no  
 
 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Finance IT and Transactional Services? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Legal Governance and Commissioning 
Support? 

Yes – Rachel Spencer-Henshall – 10th 
September 2020 
 
 
Yes – Eamonn Croston 
 
 
Yes – Julie Muscroft 
 

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Graham Turner 
 

 
Electoral wards affected: All  
 
Ward councillors consulted: None  
 
Public or private: Public 
 
Have you considered GDPR?  Yes 
 
  

Page 141

Agenda Item 9

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


 

1. Summary  
 

1.1 This report is intended to brief members the current follow up being conducted by 
the CSPL. 
 

2. Information required to take a decision 
 
2.1 The work of the Committee on Standards in Public Life 
 
2.1.1 The CSPL did indicate, when their report was originally published, that they 

would review the implementation of their best practice recommendations with 
local authorities to measure their progress. 

 
2.1.2 The Cabinet Office has now written to the Chief Executives of local 

authorities in England reminding them of this and advising that they will be 
following up progress on the implementation of the recommendations in the 
Autumn of 2020. A copy of their letter is at Appendix A 

 
2.1.3 A reminder of the recommended best practices was also sent and a copy of 

this is at Appendix B. 
 
2.2 Kirklees progress on best practice recommendations 
 
2.2.1 There were a total of 15 best practice recommendations. Appendix C sets 

out the recommendations together with a summary of what we are doing in 
Kirklees in response to the recommendations. As members will note from 
previous reports about the report from CSPL and the table in Appendix C 
that we were already meeting most of the recommendations or have taken 
steps to do that. 

 
3. Implications for the Council 

 
3.1 Working with People 

 
N/A 

 
3.2 Working with Partners 

 
N/A 

 
3.3 Place Based Working  
 

N/A 
 

3.4 Climate Change and Air Quality 
 
N/A 
 

3.5 Climate Change 
 
In order to minimise any impact, printing is kept to a minimum. 

 

Page 142



 

3.6 Other (eg Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  
 

The promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct by councillors 
is an important part of maintaining public confidence in both the council and 
its members. Failure to do so could have significant reputational implications. 

 

4. Consultees and their opinions 
 
N/A 
 

5. Next steps and timelines 
 
5.1 The CSPL have indicated that they will write to the Chief Executive in the autumn, 

seeking an update on progress towards implementing the best practice 
recommendations. 

 
 

6. Officer recommendations and reasons 
 
6.1 Members are asked to consider the report and comment on its contents (as 

applicable) and note its contents. 
 

 
7. Cabinet portfolio holder’s recommendations 
 
 N/A 

 
8. Contact officer 
 

David Stickley 
 Senior Legal Officer 
 01484 221000 
 david.stickley@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

 
9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 
 
9.1 Agenda item 8  
 

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/g5638/Public%20reports%20pack%2
006th-Mar-2019%2010.00%20Standards%20Committee.pdf?T=10 

 
9.2  Agenda item 8 
 

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/g6032/Public%20reports%20pack%2
011th-Sep-2019%2010.00%20Standards%20Committee.pdf?T=10 
 

10. Service Director responsible 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 01484 221000 

Page 143

mailto:david.stickley@kirklees.gov.uk
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/g5638/Public%20reports%20pack%2006th-Mar-2019%2010.00%20Standards%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/g5638/Public%20reports%20pack%2006th-Mar-2019%2010.00%20Standards%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/g6032/Public%20reports%20pack%2011th-Sep-2019%2010.00%20Standards%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/g6032/Public%20reports%20pack%2011th-Sep-2019%2010.00%20Standards%20Committee.pdf?T=10


 

 julie.muscroft@kirklees.gov.uk 
 
  

Page 144

mailto:julie.muscroft@kirklees.gov.uk


 

Appendix A 
 
Sent: 06 July 2020 12:02 
To: Jacqui Gedman <Jacqui.Gedman@kirklees.gov.uk> 
Subject: Fwd: Best practice in local government, follow up by the Committee on Standards in Public Life 

 

FOR THE ATTENTION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
 
I am writing from the Committee on Standards in Public Life to follow up recommendations 
made in our January 2019 report on local government ethical standards. 
 
In that report, we identified some best practice recommendations which represent 
a benchmark for ethical practice and which we expect any local authority should 
implement. 
 
We said in our report that we would review the implementation of those best practice 
recommendations in 2020.  We completely understand the unexpected and 
unprecedented pressures that local authorities are facing this year with COVID-19, so we 
are not of course asking for an immediate response.   The purpose of this email is to let 
you know that we will be writing again in the autumn to ask you for your progress against 
these recommendations.  I have attached a list of the best recommendations for ease of 
reference, but they are of course also set out in the report. 
 
If you have any questions, please do just let us know.  Otherwise, we wish you well and 
look forward to being in touch again later this year. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
Lesley Bainsfair (Ms) 

   

 

 
 
Lesley Bainsfair 
Head of the Secretariat 
Committee on Standards in Public Life 
E: lesley.bainsfair@public-standards.gov.uk   
T: 020 7271 0855 M: 07736 635281 
1 Horse Guards Road, London, SW1A 2HQ 
Follow us on Twitter @publicstandards 

 
 

Page 145

mailto:Jacqui.Gedman@kirklees.gov.uk
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/777315/6.4896_CO_CSPL_Command_Paper_on_Local_Government_Standards_v4_WEB.PDF
mailto:lesley.bainsfair@public-standards.gov.uk
https://twitter.com/publicstandards


 

Appendix B 

 

 

 

Page 146



 

 

  

Page 147



 

Appendix C 

 

CSPL best practice suggestion Kirklees progress 

Best practice 1: Local authorities should 
include prohibitions on bullying and 
harassment in Codes of Conduct. These 
should include a definition of bullying and 
harassment, supplemented with a list of 
examples of the sort of behaviour covered 
by such a definition. 
 

Best practice 1: The Code of Conduct 
already included a prohibition on bullying 
and harassment, but it has been updated 
to better define what is meant. 
 

  

Best practice 2: Councils should include 
provisions in their code of conduct 
requiring councillors to comply with any 
formal Standards investigation and 
prohibiting trivial or malicious allegations 
by councillors. 
 

Best practice 2: Councillors are already 
required by the Code of Conduct to 
engage with the standards process and 
the code makes it clear that a failure to do 
so is capable of being a breach in itself. 
There is currently no prohibition on trivial 
or malicious allegations, but all complaints 
made are subject to an initial assessment 
and any that are considered to be so are 
dismissed. 
 

  

Best practice 3: Principal authorities should 
review their Code of Conduct each year 
and regularly seek, where possible, the 
views of the public, community 
organisations and neighbouring authorities. 
 

Best practice 3: In Kirklees the code is 
reviewed annually without a wider 
consultation, as well as when anything 
occurs that may prompt a review. A wider 
consultation will take place every other 
year as part of the annual review of the 
code of conduct. 
 
 

  

Best practice 4: An authority’s Code should 
be readily accessible to both Councillors 
and the public, in a prominent position on a 
council’s website and available in Council 
premises. 
 

Best practice 4: The Code is readily visible 
on the Council’s website, with a link from 
the homepage to a dedicated complaints 
page that contains a link to the Code of 
Conduct from the ‘Councillor Complaints’ 
option. There was a project underway to 
check which Kirklees buildings held printed 
Codes and to ensure that all did, but this 
was interrupted by the pandemic and still 
needs to be completed. 
 

  

Best practice 5: Local authorities should 
update their Gifts and Hospitality register at 
least once per quarter, and publish it in an 
accessible format, such as CSV. 

Best practice 5: This is done and is 
administered by Councillor Support. 
 

Page 148



 

 

  

Best practice 6: Councils should publish a 
clear and straightforward public interest 
test against which allegations are filtered. 
 

Best practice 6: This is something that has 
been incorporated into the Standards 
process. 

  

Best practice 7: Local authorities should 
have access to at least two Independent 
Persons. 
 

Best practice 7: Authority was given to 
extend the appointment of the present 
Independent Person and to recruit a 
second. Work on this has been affected by 
the pandemic and the adverts still need to 
be placed and a recruitment exercise 
undertaken. 
 

  

Best practice 8: An Independent Person 
should be consulted as to whether to 
undertake a formal investigation on an 
allegation and should be given the option 
to review and comment on allegations 
which the responsible officer is minded to 
dismiss as being without merit, vexatious, 
or trivial.  
 

Best practice 8: This is already part of the 
Kirklees standards process and 
consultation is routine.  
 

  

Best practice 9: Where a local authority 
makes a decision on an allegation of 
misconduct following a formal 
investigation, a decision notice should be 
published as soon as possible on its 
website, including a brief statement of 
facts, the provisions of the Code engaged 
by the allegations, the view of the 
Independent Person, the reasoning of the 
decision-maker, and any sanction applied. 
 

Best practice 9: This has now been 
adopted and a webpage has been set up 
for the publication of decision notices. 
 

  

Best practice 10: A local authority should 
have straightforward and accessible 
guidance on its website on how to make a 
complaint under the Code of Conduct, the 
process for handling complaints, and 
estimated timescales for investigations and 
outcomes. 
 

Best practice 10: The Kirklees website has 
a dedicated Councillor Complaints page 
and this information is recorded there. 
 

  

Best practice 11: Formal Standards 
complaints about the conduct of a Parish 
Councillor towards a clerk should be made 
by the Chair or by the Parish Council as a 

Best practice 11: This is a matter for Town 
and Parish Councils and the Monitoring 
Officer has made chairs aware of this best 
practice point. 
 

Page 149



 

whole, rather than the clerk in all but 
exceptional circumstances. 
 

  

Best practice 12: Monitoring Officers’ roles 
should include providing advice, support 
and management of investigations and 
adjudications on alleged breaches to 
parish councils within the remit of the 
principal authority. They should be 
provided with adequate training, corporate 
support and resources to undertake this 
work. 
 

Best practice 12: The Monitoring Officer is 
involved with Standards matters in the 
Town and Parish Councils, providing 
advice, guidance and training. It is 
anticipated that, now that the majority of 
Town and Parish Councils have adopted 
the Kirklees code, that any training 
developed for Kirklees Councillors on the 
Code of Conduct can be offered to Town 
and Parish Council with a very minimal 
cost. 
 

  

Best practice 13: A local authority should 
have procedures in place to address any 
conflicts of interest when undertaking a 
Standards investigation. Possible steps 
should include asking the Monitoring 
Officer from a different authority to 
undertake the investigation. 
 

Best practice 13: There are processes in 
place to deal with any conflicts of interest 
that arise within the standards process. 
The Monitoring Officer is able to call on 
one of her deputies or, if the 
circumstances require someone from 
outside Kirklees, one of the Monitoring 
Officers of the other West Yorkshire 
authorities. Whilst there is no formal 
deputy chair of the Standards Committee, 
the Committee is able to appoint one on a 
temporary basis should the chair be 
conflicted. 
 

  

Best practice 14: Councils should report on 
separate bodies they have set up or which 
they own as part of their annual 
governance statement and give a full 
picture of their relationship with those 
bodies. Separate bodies created by local 
authorities should abide by the Nolan 
principle of openness and publish their 
board agendas and minutes and annual 
reports in an accessible place. 
 

Best practice 14: Currently, KNH is 
Kirklees Council’s only wholly controlled 
subsidiary company and the financial 
reports do contain relevant information. 
Kirklees Stadium Development Limited 
(Kirklees Council has a 40% share) and 
Calderdale and Kirklees Careers (Kirklees 
Council has a 50% share) are not currently 
reported on in any annual governance 
statement. 
 

  

Best practice 15: Senior officers should 
meet regularly with political group leaders 
or group whips to discuss Standards 
issues. 
 

Best practice 15: The Monitoring Officer 
meets with the GBMs on a regular basis. 
The Standards Committee meets twice 
yearly. 
 

 

Page 150


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	3 Interests
	7 Code of Conduct Complaints Update
	Stds1_AppendixA

	8 Cases and News Update
	2 app standards_news
	2 app 2 LLG_Social_Media_Toolkit_2020

	9 Committee on Standards In Public Life Follow Up

